國立臺灣大學電機資訊學院電信工程學研究所

## 博士論文

Graduate Institute of Communication Engineering College of Electrical Engineering & Computer Science National Taiwan University Doctoral Dissertation

毫米波E頻段高頻譜效率互補式金氧半導體發射器之研究 E-band CMOS Transmitter Design for High Spectral Efficiency Wireless Communications

林煒恆

Wei-Heng Lin

指導教授: 黃天偉 博士

Advisor: Tian-Wei Huang, Ph.D.

中華民國 103 年7月

July, 2014

#### 誌謝

能完成這篇論文,我最要特別感謝我的指導教授黃天偉老師以及王暉老師。 黃老師在我攻讀博士班的過程中,不只在研究上給我豐富的指導以及獨立自由的 空間,對我過於情緒化的個性,老師願意用耐心以及愛心,潛移默化地引導我。 對於能接受黃老師全方位的指導,心中著實充滿感激。學生會時時提醒自己,奮 始怠終,修業之賊也;緩前急後,應事之賊也;躁心浮氣,畜德之賊也;疾言厲 色,處眾之賊也。同時也要感謝王暉教授。感謝王老師給我機會,讓我在我博一 加入他的團隊,開啟了新的研究生涯。王老師的大師風範,研究的態度、做事情 的效率、豐富的資源與對事情的看法,就像一座探索不盡的藏寶山,讓我們能夠 慢慢挖掘、不斷學習。

接下來感謝口試委員張志揚教授、邱煥凱教授、張鴻埜教授、蔡作敏教授、 蔡政翰教授的建議及指正,使得本論文得以更加的完備。感謝張志揚教授提供我 後續研究的方向。邱煥凱教授名為提問,實為教學的引導,幫助我澄清及修正了 許多研究上的想法觀念。張鴻埜教授及蔡作敏教授,在量測上給予諸多指導與提 醒。蔡政翰教授在寫作論文的前後,給我無數的幫助。

感謝政翰、敏哥、弘源學長,小弟有幸在電波組學到的一招半式,全賴你們 無私的指導。大恩不言謝,盡在不言中。同時感謝林坤佑教授,在我剛開始念博 班給我許多的教學與訓練。另外,博班最重要戰友收叟,眼看你從一個死跑龍套 的,轉變成電波組類比電路最強男人。一字記之曰心,收叟好棒啊!明年此時, 記得讓我請你吃碗雜碎麵吧!感謝完全可靠的電信所趙姐及欣梅,在各式繁雜的 行政工作上,給我完全的協助。還有在研究上給我無數雪中送炭的智哥,整天聽 我狂言論天下的阿儒,以及幫助我一起完成口試的張任鋒。

回顧博班生涯,要感謝的人實在太多,碩班同學阿開、爽年、航航、彭老師、 主禧、黃智宇、Jimmy 郭、神江、李杰穎和曾暐哲,還有電波組 MMIC group 的學 長姐、學弟妹們,礙於篇幅,無法一一列舉,小弟在此一併感謝,並獻上由衷的 祝福。

> 煒恆 2014.8

摘要

本論文目的主要是討論利用台積電先進的 65 奈米互補式金氧半場效電晶體製 程,設計 E 頻段高頻譜效率的次諧波直接昇頻發射器。首先針對多種在射頻發射 鏈路傳輸的非理想效應,進行介紹與討論。為了改善上述非理想效應,我們透過 對調變器負載的敏感度分析,設計一個在本地振盪器端寬頻帶低幅度與低相位失 衡的 45°功率分配器,提供高階正交振幅調變訊號所需的高鏡像抑制機制。並藉由 雙平衡次諧波吉伯特混頻器具有良好隔離度的特性,使用 65 奈米互補式金氧半場 效電晶體製程,實現一個寬頻帶高鏡像抑制的 IQ 調變器。此調變器在 55 至 85 GHz 頻寬下,提供 0±1 dB 轉換增益。此外從 64 到 84 GHz,提供寬頻優於 40 dBc 的高 鏡像抑制。

為了進一步驗證高速數位訊號調變的效能,我們設計高效率高增益四級功率 放大器作為 60 GHz 高鏡像抑制的 IQ 調變器輸出級,以提高發射器的動態範圍。 該發射器在 54 至 70 GHz 能提供 33 ± 0.5 dB 增益。以及在 114 毫瓦的總直流功率 消耗下,有 11-dBm 的飽和輸出功率。發射器能在 1.7%誤差向量幅度之下,以 500 Mb/s 傳輸速率發射 1024-正交振幅調變信號。藉由本論文所提出的討論與分析,所 設計的 60 GHz 高鏡像抑制發射器,其頻譜應用效率可以被進一步提升。 關鍵字:毫米波、互補式金氧半場效電晶體、鏡像抑制、1024-正交振幅調變、次 諧波混波器

ii

## ABSTRACT

The main purpose of this dissertation is to design the *E*-band high spectral efficiency direct-conversion modulator and transmitter using TSMC 65-nm CMOS technology. First, the non-ideal effects on the RF transmitter are introduced and discussed. For high-order modulation scheme implementation, the RF impairments are mainly related to the non-linearity and in-phase/quadrature (IQ) imbalance. To maintain high image rejection ratio (low IQ imbalance) of the IQ modulator over a wide bandwidth, a load insensitive analysis and an local oscillator (LO) broadband 45° power splitter are proposed to achieve low amplitude and phase imbalanced structure. In addition, the doubly balanced sub-harmonic Gilbert-cell mixer with the advantages of good LO leakage suppression has been selected in the mixer design. The IQ modulator demonstrates a measured flat conversion gain of  $0 \pm 1$  dB from 55 to 85 GHz. The image rejection ratio is better than 40 dBc from 64 to 84 GHz.

For the high speed digital modulation quality demonstration, the IQ modulator is integrated with a four-stage high gain high efficiency power amplifier (PA) to form a direct-conversion transmitter. The measured conversion gain of the transmitter is  $33 \pm 0.5$  dB from 54 to 70 GHz. The saturated power is 11 dBm with total dc power consumption of 114 mW. A 1024-QAM modulated signal with a data rate of 500 Mb/s and 1.7% error vector magnitude (EVM) is successfully demonstrated at 65 GHz. Through the characteristics of high image rejection and the superior LO signal suppression, the system capacity of proposed 60-GHz direct-conversion transmitter can be further improved.

Index Terms — Millimeter-wave (MMW), CMOS, image rejection ratio (IRR), 1024-QAM, sub-harmonic mixer.

# CONTENTS

CONTENTS	
口試委員會審定書#	
誌謝i	V
简要ii	
ABSTRACT iii	
CONTENTSiv	
LIST OF FIGURESvi	
LIST OF TABLESxi	
Chapter 1 Introduction1	
1.1 Motivation1	
1.2 Literature Survey	
1.3 Contributions	
1.4 Organization of this Dissertation	
Chapter 2 High Image Rejection <i>E</i> -band Sub-Harmonic IQ-Modulator in	
65-nm CMOS Process7	
2.1 Introduction7	
2.1.1 Error Vector Magnitude7	
2.1.2 IQ Imbalance and Image Rejection Ratio	
2.2 IQ compensation techniques	
2.3 Circuit Design	
2.3.1 Sub-harmonic Gilbert-Cell Mixer with Built-in LO buffer Design15	
2.3.2 Load Sensitivity Analysis for Sub-harmonic IQ Modulator Design22	
2.3.3 Broadband LO 45° Power Splitter with Amplitude and Phase	
Compensation27	

	2.3.4	IQ Modulator Design
2.4	Exp	erimental Results
	2.4.1	Full E-band High Image Rejection Modulator Characteristic
Chapter	• 3 (	CMOS 60-GHz Front-End Amplifiers
3.1	A 5	7-66 GHz 12.9-dBm Miniature Power Amplifier with 23.4% PAE in
	65-r	um CMOS
	3.1.1	Introduction
	3.1.2	Device Characteristic and MMIC Process
	3.1.3	Circuit Design
	3.1.4	High Efficiency Power Amplifier Characteristic
3.2	A 0	.6-V 60-GHz Low-Power LNA with Forward Body Bias Technique in
	90 n	m CMOS Process
	3.2.1	Introduction61
	3.2.2	Device Characteristic and MMIC Process
	3.2.3	Circuit Design63
	3.2.4	Experimental Results65
Chapter	•4 1	024 QAM 60-GHz IQ Transmitter in 65-nm CMOS Process71
4.1	Intro	oduction71
4.2	Circ	uit Design72
4.3	1024	4 QAM 60-GHz Transmitter Characteristic76
Chapter	•5 (	Conclusion
Reference	e	
Publicati	ions Lis	t

# LIST OF FIGURES

LIST OF FIGURES
Fig. 1.1. All available frequency bands for microwave radio applications
Fig. 1.2. The 60GHz band channel plan and frequency allocations by region2
Fig. 2.1. The illustration of Error Vector Magnitude
Fig. 2.2. The effect of I/Q gain and phase imbalance on QPSK signal10
Fig. 2.3. The image rejection ratio (IRR) of Eq. (6) in a modulator with IQ amplitude
and phase mismatch11
Fig. 2.4. IQ compensation techniques: (a) Digital compensation on IF. (b) Phase
compensation on LO and amplitude compensation on IF13
Fig. 2.5. Sub-harmonic IQ modulator with broadband phase and amplitude
compensation on LO14
Fig. 2.6. Schematic of the E-band CMOS sub-harmonic up-conversion Gilbert-cell
mixer
Fig. 2.7. MMW LO four-way quadrature divider17
Fig. 2.8. The simulated insertion loss of the four-way quadrature divider
Fig. 2.9. The simulated frequency response of the four-way quadrature divider
Fig. 2.10. (a) LO buffer placed in front of the quadrature divider. (b) LO buffer placed
after the quadrature divider19
Fig. 2.11. The frequency response of conversion gain with different buffer device size
under a -3-dBm LO pumping power. The nMOS, $M_{13}$ to $M_{16}$ , of
24μm/0.06μm are selected21
Fig. 2.12. The frequency response of conversion gain with different matching inductor
under a -3-dBm LO pumping power. The 0.12-nH differential matching
inductors next to nMOS, $M_{13}$ to $M_{16}$ , are selected

Fig. 2.13. (a) The quadrature mixing with phase and amplitude compensation circuits at
the LO port. (b) The quadrature mixing with phase and amplitude compensation circuits at the RF port
Fig. 2.14. The load variation of LO port and RF port with (a) VSWR=1.2 and (b)
VSWR=3.0, at LO frequency of 37.5 GHz of single mixer core24
Fig. 2.15. The conversion gain deviation of (a) LO port and (b) RF port load variation ,
versus LO driven power from -15-dBm to 0-dBm with VSWR=1.2 at LO
frequency of 37.5 GHz25
Fig. 2.16. Proposed broadband $45^{\circ}$ LO power splitter with amplitude imbalance
compensation28
Fig. 2.17. The frequency response of the broadband compensation mechanism for
proposed structure in Fig. 2.16
Fig. 2.18. The function graph of Eq. (18) for numerical root search of $tan(\phi(c_1)) \dots 31$
Fig. 2.19. The simulated frequency response of HPF and LPF structures
Fig. 2.20. The simulated amplitude imbalance and phase difference of LPF and HPF
structures
Fig. 2.21. The simulated frequency response of the amplitude compensation structure. 32
Fig. 2.22. The simulated amplitude difference of the proposed power divider (solid line)
and the Wilkinson power divider with a delay line (dashed line)34
Fig. 2.23. The simulated phase difference of the proposed power divider (solid line) and
the Wilkinson power divider with a delay line (dashed line)
Fig. 2.24. Design flow of phase and amplitude compensation
Fig. 2.25. The total amplitude and phase difference for proposed structure in Fig. 2.16.35
Fig. 2.26. The block diagram of the <i>E</i> -band modulator
Fig. 2.27 The layout of proposed broadband 45° LO power splitter

Fig. 2.28. The effects of capacitance variation on image rejection ratio
Fig. 2.29. (a) The image rejection ratio of the monte-carlo simulations, and (b) The
conversion gain of the monte-carlo simulations of the <i>E</i> -band modulator39
Fig. 2.30. (a) The image rejection ratio of the PVT corner simulations, and (b) The
conversion gain of the PVT corner simulations of the <i>E</i> -band modulator40
Fig. 2.31. Die photo of <i>E</i> -band modulator41
Fig. 2.32. Measured output spectrum of the <i>E</i> -band CMOS I/Q modulator with an 2LO
frequency of 65 GHz and a IF frequency of 0.625 MHz42
Fig. 2.33. Measured output spectrum of the E-band CMOS I/Q modulator with an 2LO
frequency of 77 GHz and a IF frequency of 1.25 MHz42
Fig. 2.34. The measured results of two <i>E</i> -band modulator chips43
Fig. 2.35. Measured and simulated conversion gain and image rejection of the E-band
modulator43
Fig. 2.36. Block diagram of the vector signal measurement system for the <i>E</i> -band
modulator45
Fig. 2.37. Measured constellation diagram of the <i>E</i> -band modulator at 70 GHz with a 40
Mb/s 256-QAM modulation45
Fig. 3.1. Regulation of the 60-GHz band in regions
Fig. 3.2. Schematic of the 2-stage CMOS PA
Fig. 3.3. The output load-pull power contour and PAE contour of two combined
transistors (the Smith chart with the center impedance re-normalized to
12.5-Ω.)
Fig. 3.4. The simulated maximum available gain (Gmax) for the devices
Fig. 3.5. The simulated matching loss of output stage matching network
Fig. 3.6. The simulated matching loss input stage matching network

Fig. 3.7. The simulated matching loss of inter stage matching network
Fig. 3.8. The simulated small signal S-parameter for 1.2-V supply
Fig. 3.9. The simulated gain, output power and PAE versus input power from 57-66
GHz under 1.2-V supply55
Fig. 3.10. The chip photo of 60 GHz CMOS LNA with die size of 0.3 mm x 0.67 mm.56
Fig. 3.11. Simulated and Measured small signal S-parameter for 1.2-V supply57
Fig 3.12. Measured small signal S-parameter for 1.2 and 1.0-V supply
Fig. 3.13. The measured gain, output power and PAE versus input power at 64.5 GHz
under 1.2 and 1.0-V supply58
Fig. 3.14. Measured PAE and P <sub>out</sub> versus frequency for 1.2-V supply
Fig. 3.15. Comparison of maximum available gain of NMOS transistor of 1.6 $\mu$ m 10
fingers under same dc power consumption with GP and LP process62
Fig. 3.16. The schematic of 60 GHz CMOS three-stage common source LNA63
Fig. 3.17. The chip photo of 60 GHz CMOS LNA with die size of 0.65 mm x 0.54 mm.64
Fig. 3.18. The measured S-parameters of the 60 GHz CMOS LNA at 0.6-V supply
voltage 4.8mW and 0.5-V supply voltage 2.5 mW
Fig. 3.19. The measured S-parameters of the 60 GHz CMOS LNA at 0.7-V supply
voltage 4.9mW67
Fig. 3.20. The measured $P_{\rm in}$ - $P_{\rm out}$ and $P_{\rm in}$ -Gain characteristics at 60 GHz at 0.7-V
supply voltage and 4.9 mW67
Fig. 3.21. The measured noise figure at 0.7-V supply voltage and 4.9 mW68
Fig. 3.22. The ratio of GBP to DC consumption vs. Supply Voltage
Fig. 4.1. Millimeter-wave high-order QAM modulation comparison72
Fig. 4.2. The block diagram of the 60-GHz transmitter
Fig. 4.3. (a) The image rejection ratio of the PVT corner simulations, and (b) The

conversion gain of the PVT corner simulations of the 60-GHz transmitter. 74
Fig. 4.4. (a) The image rejection ratio of the monte-carlo simulations, and (b) The
conversion gain of the monte-carlo simulations of the 60-GHz transmitter.75
Fig. 4.5. Die photo of 60-GHz transmitter
Fig. 4.6. Modulated output spectrum of the 60-GHz transmitter with an 2LO frequency
of 66 GHz and an IF frequency of 1.25 MHz77
Fig. 4.7 . Measured and simulated conversion gain versus LO power of the 66-GHz78
Fig. 4.8. The measured conversion gain and image rejection of two 60-GHz transmitter
chips79
Fig. 4.9. Measured and simulated conversion gain and image rejection of 60-GHz
transmitter from 52 to 73 GHz79
Fig. 4.10. Measured and simulated IF input power versus conversion gain and RF
output power of 60-GHz transmitter at 60 GHz.
Fig. 4.11. Measured and simulated IF bandwidth of 60-GHz transmitter
Fig. 4.12. Measured output spectrum of the BPSK modulator at 60 GHz with (a) 181
Fig. 4.13. Block diagram of the vector signal measurement system for the 60-GHz
transmitter
Fig. 4.14. Measured constellation and output spectrums diagram of (a) instrument
(1.29% EVM) (b) the 60-GHz transmitter (1.57% EVM) at 65 GHz with a
600 Mb/s 64-QAM modulation83
Fig. 4.15. Measured constellation and output spectrums diagram of (a) instrument (b)
the 60-GHz transmitter at 65 GHz with a 500 Mb/s 1024-OAM modulation.84
Fig. 4.16. DVB-C2 signal level requirement

## LIST OF TABLES

LIST OF TABLES	
TABLE 2-1 PERFORMANCES COMPARESONS OF THE REPORTED CMOS MMW	
SUB-HARMONIC MIXERS AND MODULATORS47	
TABLE 3-1 Performance Summary    60	
TABLE 3-2 Performance Comparison of CMOS 60-GHz Broadband LNAs70	
TABLE 4-1 PERFORMANCE COMPARISON OF THE REPORTED MMW HIGH IMAGE	
Modulators	

### Chapter 1 Introduction

#### 1.1 Motivation



Due to the demand for multi-gigabit wireless links, many efforts have been devoted for broadband millimeter-wave (MMW) communication system. To achieve higher speed data transfer, more frequency bandwidth is needed. In recent years, as shown in Fig. 1.1, the released 57 to 64 GHz non-licensed band, and 71-76, 81-86 GHz light licensed band make them ideal for high data wireless communications [1], [2]. The huge bandwidth has made MMW radios promising candidates for multi-gigabit rates in point-to-multipoint and point-to-point applications. According to IEEE 802.15.3c standard, four channels of maximum 2.16-GHz bandwidth were defined around the 60-GHz frequency [3], [4]. This channel allocation is also common for IEEE 802.11ad [5], WiGig [6] and WirelessHD [7] standards, as shown in Fig. 1.2. It is capable of providing up to 6.75 Gbps throughput using approximately 2 GHz of spectrum at 60 GHz over a short range.

Consequently, many 60-GHz transceivers with different architecture implemented by different technology have been reported in this field [3], [4], [8], [9]. The 60 GHz



Fig. 1.1. All available frequency bands for microwave radio applications.



Fig. 1.2. The 60GHz band channel plan and frequency allocations by region.

wireless transceiver with the highest data rate 20 Gbps in 16QAM modulation is reported in 2013 [10]. However, the next question arises as to how much more efficiently bandwidth can be used in the modulation domain. Therefore, our research interests focus on improving the spectral efficiency of the system.

Besides, as the continued maturation of CMOS technology, the low power consumption and green-mode operation are increasing concerns at MMW band. The low power RF transceiver front-end is also discussed and designed in this dissertation.

#### **1.2 Literature Survey**

Nowadays the wireless communications and networks are moving toward high data-rate transmission and high spectral efficiency. The cost of using higher order QAM to improve spectral efficiency is that the transceiver requires a higher signal to noise ratio (SNR) with the same level of error rate performance. One of the dominant vectors

on SNR degradation is I/Q imbalance (gains and phases error) [11]. In practice, the imperfect components characteristics (exactly quadrature phase, equal gains, and so on) of the transceiver contribute to the IQ mismatch. For example, the finite sideband image of the transmitter signal from IQ mismatch degrades signal quality.

Therefore, many efforts have been devoted to IQ mismatch calibration. The predistortion filtering techniques [12]-[14] and the direct calibration approach [15] using digital signal processing (DSP) to compensate for IQ imbalance effects are investigated and presented. The other calibration methods based on the phase detector and power limiter are used in [16]-[17]. However, most of the compensation techniques result in limitation of bandwidth, which restrict to its development on wireless multi-gigabit data transmission. In addition, the digital compensation technique required detect and control circuits which increased additional dc power consumption and circuit area.

For MMW broadband communication applications, a hybrid compensation with phase calibration mechanisms on LO signal path and variable gain amplifiers (VGAs) on IF path to correct IQ magnitude mismatches has been reported and implemented within the 70-100 GHz band. With calibration, the image signal at 90GHz can be suppressed to below 40dB [18]. The other power-locked loop technique for amplitude calibration is proposed for V-band IQ modulator and demodulator design. Unrestricted to bandwidth limitations of couplers and process variations, this circuit demonstrates excellent SSR higher than 35 dBc from 51 to 68 GHz [19]. However, to obtain better accuracy and sensitivity of the calibration technique, it needs more power consumption and system complexity for control circuits.

#### **1.3** Contributions

In this dissertation, we propose an effective compensation technique for direct-conversion IQ modulator and transmitter with reduced complexity and zero power consumption to solve IQ imbalance problem from practical imperfect MMW components, which can greatly reduce the amplitude and phase imbalance and then enhance the bandwidth efficiency of the system.

Briefly speaking, the proposed compensation mechanism is rendered the quadrature generator with ultra-low amplitude and phase imbalance. Firstly, a load-insensitive analysis is introduced to determine the topology with minimum performance deviation. Moreover, the proposed LO broadband 45° power splitter, as the quadrature generator of sub-harmonic mixer, is composed of the high-pass filter (HPF)/low-pass filter (LPF) section used for equal group delay generation [20] and the unequal power divider designed for amplitude mismatch compensation. With the combination of two modified sections, the amplitude imbalance is less than 0.04 dB, and the phase difference is less the 0.5° from 32 to 45 GHz for half-LO frequency.

In addition, for a high spectral efficiency modulator implementation, the RF impairments are also related to nonlinearity and LO leakage. To reduce the LO leakage, the doubly balanced sub-harmonic Gilbert-cell mixer with the advantages of superior isolation has been selected in the mixer design. The integrated MMW LO four-way quadrature divider is modified with low phase difference further improving the LO leakage suppression. According to the above, our IQ modulator demonstrates a measured image rejection ratio better than 40 dBc from 64 to 84 GHz.

Compared to the computational power of signal processing, which is a power hungry algorithm especially for multi-gigabit applications, the proposed compensation skill can provide an ultra-low-power mismatch calibration for more than 10-GHz bandwidth.

Besides, for low-power high integrated transmitter front-end design, the high efficiency 60-GHz power amplifier is designed and implemented. In the past, the major concerns for the MMW front-end circuit design were area and performance. Recent advances in fabrication technology, low power has emerged as a principal issue of electronics industries. For the 60-GHz low-power application, this dissertation describes a broadband high efficiency power amplifier. By applying direct-combining topology and simplified first-order matching network, the MMIC demonstrates the highest PAE 23.4% and 42% drain efficiency at the 60-GHz band.

Additionally, owing to the increasing demand for low power application, the research in the 60-GHz low power low noise amplifier (LNA) is also investigated. By using forward body-bias technique, the 60-GHz LNA under 0.6-V and 4.8-mW dc power can achieve a peak gain of 16.5 dB at 58 GHz and 1-dB bandwidth from 54 to 61 GHz with a compact chip size. The experimental result shows the outstanding gain performance by the ratio of gain bandwidth product (GBP) to dc power for low power applications.

Furthermore, the high image rejection modulator with superior LO leakage suppression is integrated with high efficiency PA to form the 60-GHz transmitter. With all advantages and characteristics of our design, a 1024-QAM modulated signal is successfully demonstrated at 65 GHz. The 60-GHz direct-conversion transmitter shows a relatively cost-effective way to improve the capacity in high-speed application.

#### **1.4** Organization of this Dissertation

The dissertation is composed of five chapters. The organization is outlined as follow: In chapter 2, the non-ideal effects which degrade the SNR will be discussed. The proposed structure for MMW IQ-imbalance compensation is investigated. Then, an *E*-band high image-rejection sub-harmonic IQ modulator for a high-order QAM signal using standard 65-nm CMOS technology is designed and implemented. The design method and measured results are presented. The proposed scheme is verified to be valid and effective.

Chapter 3 introduces the design and implementation of the energy efficient V-band PA and LNA. A high efficiency PA in 65nm CMOS technology is introduced firstly. Then, another broadband 60-GHz LNA design for low power application using 90 nm CMOS process is presented.

In chapter4, the 60-GHz direct-conversion transmitter is designed and implemented. The transmitter composed of a high image rejection 60-GHz modulator and a four-stage linear amplifier is designed in 65-nm CMOS process. This monolithic microwave integrated circuit (MMIC) with high spectral efficient modulated 1024-QAM signal test is demonstrated.

In the end, chapter 5 gives the brief conclusions of this dissertation.

# Chapter 2 High Image Rejection *E*-band Sub-Harmonic IQ-Modulator in 65-nm CMOS Process

#### 2.1 Introduction

For the future cellular backhaul links, the demand of broad bandwidth to deliver multi-gigabit data transmission is significantly increased. In comparison with the traditional microwave bands, the 57–66-, 71–76-, and 81–86-GHz MMW bands offer multi-gigabit data rates through multi-gigahertz channels [21]. The direct conversion architecture with advantages of minimal hardware, no costly analog image rejection filter, and wider bandwidths is attractive for broadband MMW applications. However, the major drawback of the direct conversion transceiver implementation is the sensitivity degradation due to DC-offset generation, flicker noise, and inter-modulation distortion. Besides, the limited accuracy of the analog hardware causes amplitude and phase mismatches between the components in the I- and Q-branch of the transceiver, and is referred as I/Q imbalance. Nonideal quadrature splitting of the LO and/or gain mismatch between the I- and Q-channels will degrade EVM [22].

#### 2.1.1 Error Vector Magnitude

EVM is a measure used to quantify the performance of how accurately a radio is transmitting symbols within its constellation. For the wireless communications systems, the various imperfections of limited accuracy in the implementation (such as carrier leakage, low image rejection ratio, phase noise etc.) cause the actual constellation points to deviate from the ideal locations [23]-[25].



CIOLOLOU EST

Fig. 2.1. The illustration of Error Vector Magnitude.

For example, in Fig. 2.1, we have a QPSK constellation with 2 bits per symbol. At this instant in Fig. 2.1, suppose we are transmitting the symbol pointed to by the ideal signal vector. The difference between the ideal signal vector and the actual signal vector is the error vector. The magnitude of the error vector is EVM. Hence, we can write EVM mathematically as:

$$EVM = 10\log\left(\frac{|Error \ Vector|}{Average \ Symbol \ power}\right) \ [dB]$$
(1)

#### 2.1.2 IQ Imbalance and Image Rejection Ratio

As stated earlier, IQ imbalance has been identified as one of the most serious concerns in direct-conversion system, which causes the unwanted image signal, reduces SNR and increases bit error rate (BER). The IQ imbalance between the I- and Q-branch upon the IF signal up-converting to RF output damages the constellation diagram distribution. Fig. 2.2 shows the constellation diagram asymmetry due to IQ impairment from amplitude and phase imbalance.

To discuss the influence of IQ imbalance on the RF transceiver, we assume that IF IQ signals have perfectly matched phase and amplitude, and all the amplitude and phase errors occur at LO injected signals. To simplify the problem, the amplitude and phase mismatch are denoted as and  $\varepsilon$  and  $\phi/2$ , respectively. After all the amplitudes of signals are normalized, the imbalanced IQ signals can be expressed, respectively, as

$$IF\_I = A_{IF}cos(\omega_{IF}t)$$
(2a)

$$IF_Q = A_{IF} sin(\omega_{IF} t)$$
<sup>(2b)</sup>

$$LO_{I} = (1+\varepsilon)A_{LO}cos(\omega_{LO}t + \phi/2)$$
(2c)

$$LO_Q = A_{LO}cos(\omega_{LO}t + 45^\circ), \tag{2d}$$

respectively. The output signal of I-mixer and Q-mixer at RF output port can be written as

$$RF\_I = (1+\varepsilon)A_{RF}\cos(\omega_{2LO}t + \phi)\cos(\omega_{IF}t)$$
(3a)

$$RF_Q = -A_{RF} sin(\omega_{2LO}t) sin(\omega_{IF}t),$$
(3b)

respectively.

By trigonometric identities, we obtain

$$RF\_I = \frac{1}{2}(1+\varepsilon)A_{RF} \begin{cases} cos[(\omega_{2LO} + \omega_{IF})t + \phi] + \\ cos[(\omega_{2LO} - \omega_{IF})t + \phi] \end{cases}$$
(4a)

$$RF_{-}Q = \frac{1}{2}A_{RF}\left\{\left[\cos(\omega_{2LO} + \omega_{IF})t\right] - \left[\cos(\omega_{2LO} - \omega_{IF})t\right]\right\}.$$
(4b)



Amplitude Imblance



Phase Imblance

Fig. 2.2. The effect of I/Q gain and phase imbalance on QPSK signal.

Then we can separate the upper sideband (USB) and lower sideband (LSB) of RF output signal as:

$$\frac{RF_{lower}}{RF_{upper}} = \frac{\left\{ (1+\varepsilon)cos\left[(\omega_{2LO} - \omega_{IF})t + \phi\right] - cos(\omega_{2LO} - \omega_{IF})t\right\}}{\left\{ (1+\varepsilon)cos\left[(\omega_{2LO} + \omega_{IF})t + \phi\right] + cos(\omega_{2LO} + \omega_{IF})t\right\}},$$
(5)

where



Fig. 2.3. The image rejection ratio (IRR) of Eq. (6) in a modulator with IQ amplitude and phase mismatch.

$$a = (1 + \varepsilon)\cos\left[(\omega_{2LO} + \omega_{IF})t + \phi\right], \quad b = \cos(\omega_{2LO} + \omega_{IF})t$$
$$c = (1 + \varepsilon)\cos\left[(\omega_{2LO} - \omega_{IF})t + \phi\right], \quad d = \cos(\omega_{2LO} - \omega_{IF})t \quad .$$

The IRR was defined as average power of LSB (image signal) to USB (desired output RF signal)  $RF_{lower}^2 / RF_{upper}^2$ :

$$IRR = \frac{RF_{lower}^{2}}{RF_{upper}^{2}} = \left| \frac{\int_{T}^{T} 4(c^{2} - 2cd + d^{2})dt}{\int_{T}^{T} 4(a^{2} + 2ab + b^{2})dt} \right| = \frac{(1 + \varepsilon)^{2} - 2(1 + \varepsilon)cos\phi + 1}{(1 + \varepsilon)^{2} + 2(1 + \varepsilon)cos\phi + 1}$$
(6)

Fig. 2.3 plots the image rejection ratio versus amplitude and phase imbalance. To provide a high link spectral efficiency, a low IQ mismatch and high image rejection IQ modulator is a design issue. The quantitative relationship between the image rejection ratio of a receiver and the acceptable symbol error probability for system consideration

has been discussed in [24]. The IQ mismatch degrades the system performance with respect to the reference case of the balanced IQ signals. However, for high modulation orders, such as 64-QAM, an IRR in the order of -30 dBc to -40 dBc is sufficient to keep the system performance acceptable [24], [25]. As indicated in Fig. 2.3, to achieve an image rejection ratio of -40 dBc, the IQ imbalance should be within 0.5° phase difference and 0.05 dB amplitude imbalance. However, as the operation frequency moved toward MMW bands, the wavelength of I and Q signals are similar to CMOS chip size, thus it is difficult to maintain perfect IQ match. Therefore, a low amplitude and phase imbalanced design strategy will be discussed and demonstrated in the following section for broadband and high image rejection IQ modulator.

#### 2.2 IQ compensation techniques

For high QAM modulator implementation, the RF impairments are mainly related to the nonlinearity and IQ mismatch. Although the linearity requirement can be reduced through power back-off, the IQ mismatch needs to be mitigated through careful topology selection and parasitic insensitive design methodology.

To solve the IQ mismatch, several calibration techniques are reported [11]–[19], [26]–[29]. The IF compensation using digital [26], [27] and mixed-mode [28] techniques for IQ mismatch compensation on IF path have been demonstrated under 2 GHz, as illustrated in Fig. 2.4 (a). However, the digital compensation technique required detect and control circuits which increase additional dc power consumption and circuit area. In addition, most of the IF compensation techniques result in limited of bandwidth. For MMW broadband communication applications, a hybrid IF/RF compensation with



Fig. 2.4. IQ compensation techniques: (a) Digital compensation on IF. (b) Phase compensation on LO and amplitude compensation on IF.



100

Fig. 2.5. Sub-harmonic IQ modulator with broadband phase and amplitude compensation on LO.

phase calibration on LO signal path and VGAs on IF path to correct I/Q magnitude mismatches is illustrated in Fig. 2.4 (b) [18]. The calibration mechanisms can be implemented within the 70-100-GHz band and the IRR can be suppressed below 40 dBc. A 256-QAM constellation with 3% EVM is demonstrated at 90 GHz.

In this chapter, a load insensitive analysis is proposed to achieve high IRR of the modulator over a wide bandwidth for high data-rate application. In addition, an LO broadband 45° power splitter with amplitude and phase compensation for a sub-harmonic IQ modulator is adopted to achieve a low amplitude and phase imbalanced structure, as shown in Fig.2.5.

Compared with IF path calibration, the LO path calibration can provide a broad bandwidth compensation. After the LO path IQ calibration, the IRR of the presented sub-harmonic IO modulator is below 40 dBc over a wide bandwidth from 64 to 84 GHz.

#### 2.3 Circuit Design

#### 2.3.1 Sub-harmonic Gilbert-Cell Mixer with Built-in LO buffer Design

As previously discussed, the image rejection ratio is an important indicator of the balance condition between I- and Q-path in a high-order QAM modulator. However, before we concentrate on the problem of IQ mismatch in the circuit design, the LO leakage is also an important design issue in the RF transceiver system, especially for direct conversion architecture [30]. Since the LO and RF frequency is at the same band in the direct conversion system, the strong LO leakage power will desensitize the following stage PA of the transmitter. In addition, the LO leakage will degrade the EVM performance of the transmitter [31]. Hence, to reduce the burden on our design, we want to ameliorate the LO leakage problem through architecture selection before the face of the IQ mismatch problem.

To reduce the LO leakage, the sub-harmonic mixer is selected in our design. The primary advantage of implementing subharmonically pumped mixer is the inherent enhanced LO-to-RF isolation. Besides, the LO oscillator frequency is at half of the RF frequency, which is very desirable at upper millimeter wave frequency operation. And the RF and LO frequencies are widely separated, which facilitates the construction of the filter. These advantage directly translate to lower costs while maintaining the electrical performance of the system. As to the problems with large conversion losses and LO drivien power, we designed a built-in buffer with broadband matching network, which simultaneously lower the driven LO power and achieve good conversion gain performance. We will discuss in the following section.

Therefore the doubly balanced sub-harmonic Gilbert-cell mixer with the outstanding spur suppression is utilized in the proposed modulator design to substantially



Fig. 2.6. Schematic of the *E*-band CMOS sub-harmonic up-conversion Gilbert-cell mixer.

alleviate the LO leakage problem [32], [33]. The schematic of the sub-harmonic Gilbert-cell up-conversion mixer is illustrated in Fig. 2.6. The current mirror source implemented by R1 (820  $\Omega$ ), nMOS M<sub>1</sub> (128µm/0.06µm) and M<sub>2</sub> (8µm/0.06µm) is used to provide the tail current. The transconductance stage is realized by two inverter composed of nMOS M<sub>3</sub>, M<sub>4</sub> (128µm/0.06µm) and pMOS P<sub>1</sub>, P<sub>2</sub> (64µm/0.06µm).



Fig. 2.7. MMW LO four-way quadrature divider.

To provide larger current at transconductance for gain and linearity consideration, the pMOSs for the current bleeding path can improve the IF-to-RF conversion gain and also reduce the bias current of the switching core for mixer noise reduction [34]. The sub-harmonic switching core consists of four parallel connected nMOS pairs. The IF signal is up-converted to *E*-band RF signal by switching the quadrature state of each nMOS pairs M<sub>5</sub> to M<sub>12</sub> (20 $\mu$ m/0.06 $\mu$ m) alternatively. The lower current of switching core mitigates the voltage headroom problem concurrently. The inductors *L*<sub>1</sub>, *L*<sub>2</sub> and *C*<sub>1</sub>, *C*<sub>2</sub> capacitors are used for broadband matching network. Finally the differential RF signal is combined with a balun to generate single-ended signal.

For the sub-harmonically pumped Gilbert-cell mixer, the LO quadrature phase divider is important in our design. The four-way quadrature divider is composed of a 90° coupler and two 180° baluns as shown in Fig. 2.6. A Marchand-type transformer is used due to its excellent amplitude/phase match and broadband response. Two coupled lines



Fig. 2.8. The simulated insertion loss of the four-way quadrature divider.



Fig. 2.9. The simulated frequency response of the four-way quadrature divider.



61610 £14:



(b)

Fig. 2.10. (a) LO buffer placed in front of the quadrature divider. (b) LO buffer placed after the quadrature divider.

in the Marchand balun are constructed of edge coupled lines using metal layers 9 in this 65 nm CMOS process. These two coupled lines are wound into two coils with a width and gap both of 4  $\mu$ m.

For the 90° coupler of the four-way quadrature divider, a broadside coupler is also implemented using the thin-film microstrip line (TFMS) structure. Since the gap between the edge coupler is too small to be fabricated for the required coupling, metal layer 8 and 9 are used for the coupled lines of the broadside coupler due to the thick dielectric layer. The line width of the coupled line is 4  $\mu$ m. The size is reduced by using meander TFMS. The symmetry of the layout for quadrature four way divider and mixer core is carefully considered in the design as shown in Fig. 2.7. The 90° coupler and 180° baluns are both calculated using the full-wave EM simulator (Sonnet software). Fig. 2.8 shows the insertion loss of quadrature four-way divider, the amplitude imbalance is less than  $\pm 1.5$  dB from 20 to 43 GHz. The phase difference of the divider is less than  $\pm 5^{\circ}$  with respect to the quadrature phase as shown in Fig. 2.9.

Nevertheless, the sub-harmonic Gilbert-cell mixer requires MMW quadrature phase generation to pump the switching core, which needs a large LO input power. The insertion loss of a Q-band quadrature divider in 65-nm CMOS process is around 9 dB based on the simulation, including 6-dB ideal four-way power splitter loss. To reduce the LO power requirement, an LO buffer with 9-dB gain is inserted to compensate the insertion loss. For dc power saving, there is a design trade-off between the efficiency of compensated buffer and LO power reduction.

In the *E*-band sub-harmonic Gilbert-cell mixer design, the driving power for each switching core is less than -3 dBm. Therefore, as shown in Fig. 2.10 (a), if the built-in LO buffer is placed in front of the quadrature divider, the total dc power consumption of LO buffer is about 20 mW by assuming a 6-dBm output power and a 20% PAE. In the case of Fig. 2.10 (b), if four small buffers of -3-dBm output power are placed after the quadrature divider, the total dc power consumption of four buffers becomes 10 mW under the same PAE assumption. The difference of dc power consumption is primarily due to the loss of quadrature divider. For power saving, Fig. 2.10 (b) with built-in LO buffers placed after the quadrature divider is clearly a better choice; however, if the



Fig. 2.11. The frequency response of conversion gain with different buffer device size under a -3-dBm LO pumping power. The nMOS,  $M_{13}$  to  $M_{16}$ , of 24µm/0.06µm are selected.



Fig. 2.12. The frequency response of conversion gain with different matching inductor under a -3-dBm LO pumping power. The 0.12-nH differential matching inductors next to nMOS,  $M_{13}$  to  $M_{16}$ , are selected.

divider is ideal, the dc power consumption should be identical in both cases.

The broadband characteristic of the buffer design is also a design concern. Fig. 2.11 shows the frequency response of conversion gain with different buffer device size under a -3-dBm LO pumping power. As indicated in Fig. 2.11, while the large device can enhance conversion gain, it is also accompanied with more dc power consumption and limited bandwidth. Hence, the buffers with optimized 12-finger nMOS  $M_{13}$ - $M_{16}$  (24µm/0.06µm) biased at 0.6 V with total current of 16 mA are utilized in the proposed design. Fig. 2.12 shows the frequency response of conversion gain with different matching inductor under a -3-dBm LO power. The 0.12-nH differential matching inductors next to nMOS  $M_{13}$ - $M_{16}$  are selected for gain picking to widen the frequency response with a compact size. Utilizing the optimized buffer stage, the loss due to CMOS quadrature divider can be compensated, and the flatness of conversion gain can be achieved over the targeted frequency band.

#### 2.3.2 Load Sensitivity Analysis for Sub-harmonic IQ Modulator Design

In our design, to reduce the IQ mismatch problem, the IQ modulator has been incorporated amplitude and phase compensation. As the compensation circuits are adjusted, the matching conditions are changed accordingly, which results in the deviation of mixer performances at I and Q paths. The performance deviation of the Iand Q-mixers also causes IQ mismatch. Therefore, a load sensitivity analysis is adopted to select the proper topology of the sub-harmonic IQ modulator.

There are two practical topologies, as illustrated in Fig. 2.13, for sub-harmonic IQ modulator design. To investigate the impact on the mixer gain deviation with the imbalanced LO/RF load conditions of the compensation circuits, the two RF output ports are assumed to have identical frequency response, and the 45° power splitter is



Fig. 2.13. (a) The quadrature mixing with phase and amplitude compensation circuits at the LO port. (b) The quadrature mixing with phase and amplitude compensation circuits at the RF port.

designed at LO ports for quadrature mixing in Fig. 2.13 (a). The LO ports of two sub-harmonic mixers are then assumed to be identical, and the quadrature combiner is





Fig. 2.14. The load variation of LO port and RF port with (a) VSWR=1.2 and (b) VSWR=3.0, at LO frequency of 37.5 GHz of single mixer core.


Fig. 2.15. The conversion gain deviation of (a) LO port and (b) RF port load variation , versus LO driven power from -15-dBm to 0-dBm with VSWR=1.2 at LO frequency of

designed at RF ports in Fig. 2.13 (b). A load with a fixed reflection coefficient as an imperfect load placed at the RF and LO port of a sub-harmonic mixer core are discussed, respectively.

Fig. 2.14 (a) shows simulation results of load variation over the imperfect LO- and RF-port terminations along a constant voltage standing-wave ratio (VSWR) circle on the Smith chart, corresponding to 1.2 VSWR (20-dB reflection coefficient). It shows the conversion gain deviation of RF load variation varies much more than that of LO load variation. As previously discussed, amplitude mismatch is an important factor to the IRR. According to Fig. 2.14 (a), assuming the matching networks at RF ports are carefully designed, the gain variation still has more than 2 dB under two imbalance loads. Furthermore, as shown in Fig. 2.14 (b), considering the design tolerance with a return loss of 6 dB, the large load variation along the 3:1 VSWR circle becomes unacceptable.

In the mixer design, the function of LO driven power is to switch the mixer fully on and off for lowest distortion. If LO signal is sufficiently high to provide enough voltage swing, the LO port matching is not a major concern. As shown in Fig. 2.15, the conversion gain deviation versus LO driven power of the LO port and RF port load variation with VSWR=1.2 at LO frequency of 37.5 GHz are used to explain the phenomenon.

Therefore, to avoid the performance deviation of the I- and Q-mixers, the phase and amplitude compensation circuits are considered to be placed in the load insensitive LO port for quadrature mixing. To provide the load-insensitive performance at the RF port, the Wilkinson combiner with good matching and isolation characteristics is utilized for the mixer RF output combining.

# 2.3.3 Broadband LO 45° Power Splitter with Amplitude and Phase Compensation

Since the LO frequency is equal to half of the RF frequency in the sub-harmonic mixer, an LO signal power splitter with 45° phase shift and low amplitude and phase imbalance is required for the I and Q mixer to produce quadrature mixing. To generate the 45° phase shift, the MMIC tunable phase shifter or polyphase filter has been proposed in [35]. However, the polyphase filter with the disadvantage of high insertion loss is unfavorable to be implemented at MMW bands. To achieve low insertion loss, broad bandwidth, and low-imbalance 45° equal group delay, the HPF and LPF structure are selected in this LO power splitter design. Furthermore, the amplitude and phase compensation circuits are adopted in the power splitter to reduce the IQ mismatch of the whole modulator. By the progressive phase of HPF structure and the phase delay of LPF structure, the 45° phase difference between two output ports can be achieved [20], [36], [37].

According to Fig. 2.3, the amplitude imbalanced has a significant impact on the image rejection. Therefore, to achieve a broadband image rejection performance in a sub-harmonic I-Q modulator, a low imbalance 45° phase shift with minimum amplitude imbalance in the targeted frequency region is an important design goal. Our proposed structure is shown in Fig. 2.16, which is composed by a LPF/HPF section used for equal group delay generation, and an unequal power divider designed for amplitude mismatch compensation.

Fig. 2.17 shows the frequency response of the compensation mechanism for the proposed structure. According to the characteristic of LPF/HPF, it provides broadband low-imbalance group delay. But because of the non-ideal properties of elements, the



Fig. 2.16. Proposed broadband  $45^{\circ}$  LO power splitter with amplitude imbalance compensation.



Fig. 2.17. The frequency response of the broadband compensation mechanism for proposed structure in Fig. 2.16.

unequal power divider is designed to compensate the amplitude imbalance. It takes advantage of that the opposite of phase and amplitude in two sections can be compensated reciprocally. The optimal circuit obtains a broadband low-imbalance 45°phase delay and balanced power division.

The low pass and high pass filter structures are used to generate  $45^{\circ}$  phase delay. The HPF is implemented by metal-insulator-metal capacitors (MiMcaps) and a short stub, and the LPF is implemented using TFMS. The HPF section can be considered as a two-port network, and the *S*-parameter can be acquired by using *ABCD* parameters. In order to simplify the derivation, the capacitors  $C_1$  and  $C_2$  are selected to be identical.

The conversion for the ABCD parameter to the scattering matrix are

$$S_{11} = S_{22} = \frac{A + B / Z_0 - CZ_0 - D}{A + B / Z_0 + CZ_0 + D},$$
(7)

$$S_{21} = S_{12} = \frac{2}{A + B / Z_0 + CZ_0 + D}$$
(8)

The transmission matrix is

$$\begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & D \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} (1 - \frac{1}{\omega^2 C_1 L_3}) & (\frac{2}{j\omega C_1} - \frac{1}{j\omega^3 C_1^2 L_3}) \\ (\frac{1}{j\omega L_3}) & (1 - \frac{1}{\omega^2 C_1 L_3}) \end{pmatrix}$$

where  $\omega$  is the radian frequency. We assume that the impedance matching is perfect at operation frequency  $\omega_0$ , and get  $S_{11}=0$ , A = D,  $B/Z_0 = CZ_0$ .

$$\left(\frac{2}{j\omega_0 C_1} + \frac{-1}{j\omega_0^3 L_3 C_1^2}\right) / Z_0 = \frac{Z_0}{j\omega_0 L_3}$$
(9)

The inductance L can be obtained as

$$L_{3} = \frac{1 + C_{1}^{2} \omega_{0}^{2} Z_{0}^{2}}{2C_{1} \omega_{0}^{2}}.$$
(10)

Then use the result to replace  $L_3$  with the combination of  $C_1$ ,  $Z_0$  and  $\omega_0$  to calculate  $S_{21}$  of the HPF network as

$$S_{21} = \frac{1}{A + CZ_0} = \frac{1}{(1 - \frac{1}{\omega_0^2 C_1 L_3}) + (\frac{1}{j\omega_0 L_3})Z_0}$$
(11)

$$S_{21} = \frac{1}{(1 - \frac{1}{\omega_0^2 C_1 L_3}) - j(\frac{Z_0}{\omega_0 L_3})} = \frac{C_1 \omega_0^2 L_3}{(-1 + C_1 \omega_0^2 L_3) - jC_1 \omega_0 Z_0},$$
(12)

the phase of  $S_{21}$  can be obtained as

$$\phi_{HP}(\omega) = \tan^{-1} \frac{C_1 \omega_0 Z_0}{-1 + C_1 \omega_0^2 L_3} = \tan^{-1} \frac{2C_1 \omega_0 Z_0}{-1 + C_1^2 \omega_0^2 Z_0^2}.$$
(13)

The LPF section is implemented by the transmission line, and the phase frequency response can be written as

$$\phi_{LP}(\omega) = -\beta l = -\frac{2\pi}{\nu/f} l = -\frac{\omega}{\nu} l, \qquad (14)$$

where l is the length of the LPF and v is the phase velocity.

For the broadband low-imbalance group delay, the phase different is 45°, and the phase variations of LPF/HPF is set to be equal.

$$\phi_{HP}(\omega_0) = \pi / 4 - \phi_{LP}(\omega_0) \tag{15}$$

$$\phi_{HP}'(\omega_0) = \frac{2}{C_1 \omega_0^2 Z_0} = -\frac{l}{\nu} = \phi_{LP}'(\omega_0)$$
(16)

It can be derived as

$$v = \frac{C_1 \omega_0^2 Z_0 l}{2} \,. \tag{17}$$

Substituting (9) by (7), (8) and (11), the equation can be expressed as



Fig. 2.18. The function graph of Eq. (18) for numerical root search of  $tan(\phi(c_1))$ .



Fig. 2.19. The simulated frequency response of HPF and LPF structures.



Fig. 2.20. The simulated amplitude imbalance and phase difference of LPF and HPF structures.



Fig. 2.21. The simulated frequency response of the amplitude compensation structure.

$$\phi(C_1) = \frac{\pi}{4} - \frac{2}{C_1 \omega_0 Z_0} = \tan^{-1} \frac{2C_1 \omega_0 Z_0}{-1 + C_1^2 \omega_0^2 Z_0^2}.$$

Fig. 2.18 is plotted using (18), and the initial value of 1.93pF for the capacitance can be obtained. Fig. 2.19 shows the simulation phase frequency response of HPF and LPF.

(18)

However, since the on-chip MiMcaps, inductors and transmission lines are not ideal, for the case of 45° phase delay, the non-ideal loss of these components will result in the amplitude imbalance. Fig. 2.20 shows the simulation of amplitude imbalance and phase difference of LPF/HPF. The amplitude imbalance needs to be compensated.

The proposed compensation structure uses a short delay line in the power divider design. It can provide a proper slope of the amplitude difference by changing the length of delay line as shown in Fig. 2.21. It shows the simulation result of the amplitude imbalance and phase difference of the unequal power divider section. The specified length, 50-µm line, is selected properly to compensate the amplitude imbalance caused by the LPF/HPF structure. Compared to the Wilkinson divider with a delay line, the proposed power divider can provide the larger slope value at operating frequency to sufficiently compensate the amplitude difference from the LPF/HPF structure as shown in Fig. 2.22. Besides, as shown in Fig. 2.23, the flatter and smaller phase difference frequency response in operating band is more suitable for our design.

For the phase shift arising from the compensated TL length, we slightly adjust the center frequency and shift the phase difference  $2^{\circ}$  to  $3^{\circ}$  of LPF/HPF design, so that the phase and amplitude mismatch can be minimized, simultaneously. The design flow is shown Fig. 2.24. Fig. 2.25 shows the amplitude and phase difference simulation result of our proposed broadband  $45^{\circ}$  power splitter. With the combination of two modified sections, the amplitude imbalance is less than 0.04 dB, and the phase difference is less the 0.5° from 32 to 45 GHz for LO frequency.



Fig. 2.22. The simulated amplitude difference of the proposed power divider (solid line) and the Wilkinson power divider with a delay line (dashed line).



Fig. 2.23. The simulated phase difference of the proposed power divider (solid line) and the Wilkinson power divider with a delay line (dashed line)



Fig. 2.24. Design flow of phase and amplitude compensation.



Fig. 2.25. The total amplitude and phase difference for proposed structure in Fig. 2.16.



Fig. 2.26. The block diagram of the *E*-band modulator.

### 2.3.4 IQ Modulator Design

To verify the presented structure, an *E*-band sub-harmonic IQ modulator with proposed compensated technique is designed and implemented on standard 65-nm CMOS technology. The system block diagram of the IQ modulator is shown in Fig. 2.26. The doubly balanced sub-harmonic Gilbert-cell mixer is adopted in the IQ modulator. As described above, taking into account the sensitivity of the RF mixer load variation, an in-phase Wilkinson combiner with identical input port impedance is utilized at RF port to combine the I/Q modulated RF signals. The proposed broadband 45° power splitter is utilized to generate the quadrature phase LO signals at the load insensitive LO-port for the sub-harmonic mixer. Moreover, the two identical LO four-way quadrature dividers of SHP mixers with good impedance matching connected behind the 45° LO power splitter is an advantage in our design.



Fig. 2.27 The layout of proposed broadband 45° LO power splitter.

To provide an IRR of 40 dBc, the IQ imbalance should be within 0.5 phase difference and 0.05-dB amplitude imbalance, so that the careful EM simulation is important. Besides, the HPF section as the inter-stage of unequal power divider and mixer LO input port, slightly adjusting the two capacitances to improve the matching condition helps us to preserve the broadband high image rejection performance. Fig. 2.27 shows the layout geometry, the HPF section is realized by two MiMcaps and a 710-µm short stub TFMS. The two modified capacitance value are 0.73 pF and 0.86 pF, respectively.



Fig. 2.28. The effects of capacitance variation on image rejection ratio.

Fig. 2.28 shows the effects of capacitance variation on image rejection ratio. It can be observed that the image rejection ratios of the *E*-band modulator are acceptable and tolerances within  $\pm 3\%$  capacitance variation.

Furthermore, the image rejection ratio is decided not only by LO amplitude/phase mismatch, but also by device/layout mismatch (such as switch cores and LO buffers). To investigate the effects of process variation, the monte-carlo analysis and the PVT corner simulations provided by ADS are used. Fig. 2.29 shows the monte-carlo simulations with 10% variation using a Gaussian distribution for the component value on all transistors of the mixer core. The two mixer cores are considered as having identical behavior in the simulation. The simulated conversion gain is around 0 dB with the 3-dB bandwidth from 55 to 85 GHz. The simulated image rejection ratio of basically under -40 dBc is achieved over 64 to 84 GHz. The PVT corner simulations are shown in Fig. 2.30.



(a)



(b)

Fig. 2.29. (a) The image rejection ratio of the monte-carlo simulations, and (b) The conversion gain of the monte-carlo simulations of the *E*-band modulator.



Fig. 2.30. (a) The image rejection ratio of the PVT corner simulations, and (b) The conversion gain of the PVT corner simulations of the *E*-band modulator.



Fig. 2.31. Die photo of *E*-band modulator.

### 2.4 Experimental Results

### 2.4.1 Full *E*-band High Image Rejection Modulator Characteristic

The chip photo of the sub-harmonic IQ modulator is shown in Fig. 2.31, and the die sizes are 1.05 mm  $\times$  0.82 mm. The MMICs are tested via on-wafer probing with a good repeatability.

The V-band output spectrum of the modulator is observed by a spectrum analyzer (Agilent E4448A) and a preselected millimeter mixer (Agilent 11974V). The probe and cable loss from DUT to the preselected millimeter mixer is around 8.5 dB. Because the minute unwanted image signal is not easy to observe, we need to increase the input baseband signal for measurement. Fig. 2.32 shows the measured output spectrum of the CMOS sub-harmonic IQ modulator with an RF frequency of 66 GHz, an LO frequency



Fig. 2.32. Measured output spectrum of the *E*-band CMOS I/Q modulator with an 2LO frequency of 65 GHz and a IF frequency of 0.625 MHz.



Fig. 2.33. Measured output spectrum of the E-band CMOS I/Q modulator with an 2LO frequency of 77 GHz and a IF frequency of 1.25 MHz.



Fig. 2.34. The measured results of two *E*-band modulator chips.



Fig. 2.35. Measured and simulated conversion gain and image rejection of the *E*-band modulator.

of 33 GHz, and a baseband frequency of 0.625 MHz, where the upper sideband is the desired signal and the lower sideband is the image signal. The measured output power of the modulator signal is -31.6 dBm including 8.5 dB path loss with the optimal LO drive power of 2 dBm and baseband input of -22 dBm. The measured image rejection is 49.1 dBc. The measured 2LO leakage power is -65.9 dBm; as a result, the 2LO to RF port isolation (LO leakage) is 59.4 dB. And the 2LO suppression is 34.3 dBc, referring to the desired output power. As the increased baseband power more than input 1-dB compression, the third-order intermodulation (2LO±3IF) components are incremental. The measured third-order and second-order IMD products are smaller than -30.7 dBc and -50.1 dBc referring to the desired output power, respectively.

The W-band output spectrum of the modulator is observed using a spectrum analyzer (Agilent E4448A) and a unpreselected harmonic mixer (Agilent 11970W). The unpreselected harmonic mixer is directly connected to probe. Fig. 2.33 shows the output spectrum with RF frequency of 77 GHz, LO frequency of 38.5 GHz, and baseband frequency of 1.25 MHz, where the upper sideband is the desired signal and the lower sideband is the image signal. The measured output power of the modulator signal is -31 dBm including 1.8 dB loss of the probe with the optimal LO drive power of 2 dBm and baseband input of -29 dBm. The measured image rejection is 48.7 dBc. The measured 2LO power suppression is 30 dBc, referring to the desired output power.

Fig. 2.34 shows the measured results of two *E*-band modulator chips. Based on the measurement results, our modulator exhibits good repeatability. The measured and simulated conversion gain and image rejection of the IQ modulator from 50 to 95 GHz are plotted in Fig. 2.35. The measured conversion gain is  $0 \pm 1$  dB from 55 to 85 GHz with the total dc power consumption of 40.8 mW at 1.2-V supply. After adopting a load sensitivity analysis and a LO broadband 45° power splitter with amplitude and phase



Fig. 2.36. Block diagram of the vector signal measurement system for the *E*-band modulator.



Fig. 2.37. Measured constellation diagram of the *E*-band modulator at 70 GHz with a 40 Mb/s 256-QAM modulation.

compensation, an image rejection ratio of more than 40 dBc is achieved over 64 to 84 GHz. The performance of our work with previously published MMW sub-harmonic mixers and modulators are summarized in Table 2-1.

To verify the digital modulation quality of the MMICs, the setup block diagram of the vector signal measurement system is shown in Fig. 2.36. The baseband IQ sources are generated by ESG vector signal generators (Agilent E4438C). The LO source of the modulator is provided by the signal generator (Agilent E8257C). The output spectrum is observed by using a preselected millimeter mixer (Agilent 11974V) and a spectrum analyzer (Agilent E4448A). The spectrum analyzer is also used for high-quality down-conversion of the output signal to an IF (321.4 MHz). This 321.4-MHz IF signal is fed into an oscilloscope (Agilent 54855A) with the software VSA 89600A for the analysis in the digital modulation. The sub-harmonic IQ modulator is evaluated by a 256-QAM modulation with a data rate of 40 Mb/s with the 7.5-dB back-off output power from 1-dB compression point from 64 GHz to 75 GHz. The measured output signal is plotted in Fig. 2.37. The measured EVMs are all below 1.6%.



### TABLE 2-1 PERFORMANCES COMPARISONS OF THE REPORTED CMOS MMW SUB-HARMONIC MIXERS AND MODULATORS

Reference	[33]	[38]	[39]	[40]*	[41]*	[42]*	This Work
Technology	0.13 μm CMOS	90 nm CMOS	90 nm CMOS	0.18µm CMOS	SiGe HBT	90 nm CMOS	65 nm CMOS
RF Freqency (GHz)	35–65	30–65	50–62	24	56–65	30–100	64–84
Conversion Gain (dB)	-6	-8	-13	1.5	-8	0	0 ± 1
Image Rejection Ratio (dBc)	20	< -12.5	< -20	0.6 dB/ 3.53°	N/A	N/A	< -40
2LO to RF port Isolation (dB)	> 50	> 42.5	> 40	-60	N/A	> 50	> 50
LO power (dBm)	8	4	4	6	5.5	10	2
DC power (mW)	75.9	21	0	10.05	0	58	40.8
Chip size (mm <sup>2</sup> )	0.98×0.8	0.89×0.56	0.85×0.6	1.02×0.72	1.5×1.5	0.61×0.58	1.05×0.82

\*down-conversion mixer

## Chapter 3 CMOS 60-GHz Front-End Amplifiers

In the last few years, 7 GHz bandwidth of 60 GHz in the U.S. (57–64 GHz) and Japan (59–66 GHz) have been opened for unlicensed use [5]. This has led to significant progress of 60-GHz communications systems for a variety of applications including gigabit/s point-to-point links, wireless local area networks (WLANs), short-range high data-rate wireless personal area networks (WPANs) [43]. To fulfill market's needs for these applications, CMOS technology with advantages of low cost, low power consumption and high-level integration is tempting to develop the 60-GHz transceiver front-ends [44], [45]. In the past, the major concerns for the MMW front-end circuit design were area and performance. Recent advances in fabrication process with shrinking technology, low power has emerged as a principal issue of electronics industries. One of the most power-hungry circuits of a transceiver is the front-end amplifiers, especially power amplifiers. Thus, to improve the power efficiency of the PA is effective to reduce the overall electric energy consumption.

In this chapter, a high efficiency power amplifier in 65nm CMOS technology is introduced firstly. Then, another broadband 60-GHz LNA design for low power application using 90nm CMOS process is presented.

# 3.1 A 57-66 GHz 12.9-dBm Miniature Power Amplifier with 23.4% PAE in 65-nm CMOS

#### 3.1.1 Introduction

For green electronics and mobile system design, minimizing the power consumption in the power amplifier is important. Several reported 60-GHz CMOS amplifiers have demonstrated good gain and power performance [46]-[50]. As reported, power combining topologies, such as Wilkinson power combining [46], transformer-based power combining [47]-[48], and direct power combining [45], are commonly used to achieve higher output power with low-voltage CMOS devices. Despite these efforts, further improvement in the efficiency of CMOS PA for 60-GHz low-power applications continues to challenge the designers.

To produce a high efficiency and sufficient gain, this section describes a broadband high efficiency power amplifier for the 60-GHz low-power applications. The regulations in some countries, mandates a 10-dBm transmit power limit, as shown in Fig. 3.1 [51]. The main goal of this work is to maximize the efficiency of a 10-dBm power amplifier with a 9-GHz operating bandwidth (from 57 to 66 GHz). To deliver such a power level with high efficiency, the low-loss direct combining topology with two optimized transistors is used. First-order matching networks are used for minimum-loss and broadband gain-flatness consideration. The PA provides 16.7-dB peak gain and 12.9-dBm saturated power while drawing 57 mA under a 1.2-V supply, and achieves drain efficiency of 42% and peak power added efficiency (PAE) of 23.4%. If the supply is set to be 1.0 V, the PA achieves 11.5 dBm of saturated power and 22.3% of peak PAE. To the best of authors' knowledge, this PA achieves the best PAE among the reported 60-GHz bulk CMOS PAs.



Fig. 3.1. Regulation of the 60-GHz band in regions

### 3.1.2 Device Characteristic and MMIC Process

This 60 GHz PA prototype is implemented in TSMC commercial standard bulk 65nm 1P9M CMOS process. This process provides single poly layer for the gates of the MOS and nine metal layers with ultra-thick top metal (metal 9) of 3.4  $\mu$ m. The RF performance of the 2- $\mu$ m 24-finger FET biased at 1.2 V has a maximum frequency of oscillation (fmax) of 190 GH. Passive elements including MiMcaps are available between metal 8 and metal 7. Two types of polysilicon resistors are provided by choosing the individual dose of ion-implantation separately from the gate electrode doping process.

### 3.1.3 Circuit Design

As shown in Fig. 3.2, the PA is a two-stage common-source topology with the transistor size ratio 1:2. The first stage of PA is designed as a driver stage, and the output stage is designed for high efficiency with 10-dBm output power. The two parallel



Fig. 3.2. Schematic of the 2-stage CMOS PA.



Fig. 3.3. The output load-pull power contour and PAE contour of two combined transistors (the Smith chart with the center impedance re-normalized to  $12.5-\Omega$ .).



Fig. 3.4. The simulated maximum available gain (Gmax) for the devices. combined transistors with gate periphery of 48  $\mu$ m at the output stage are selected to produce target output power and sufficient gain. Fig. 3.3 shows the output power contour and PAE contour of two combined transistors of the load-pull data on the Smith chart with the center impedance re-normalized to 12.5- $\Omega$ . The 12+j12  $\Omega$  optimized load impedance is a compromise between high efficiency and output power.

To reduce the loss from matching networks, TFMS lines are adopted for the matching circuits and interconnections. Using TFMS for matching elements, we can easily realize the broadband load-pull matching. The simplified output-matching with a shunt stub and a series stub is designed to transfer the optimal load of the FET to 50  $\Omega$  and to provide the dc path. Also the input and inter-stage matching networks are all realized by first-order matching networks, which simultaneously achieve broadband matching, low path loss, and compact chip size. Fig. 3.4 shows the simulated maximum available gain (Gmax) for the two combined transistors. The simulated minimum insertion loss of



Fig. 3.5. The simulated matching loss of output stage matching network.

output, input and inter stage matching network are shown in Fig. 3.5, Fig. 3.6 and Fig. 3.7. The 1.84-pF capacitors are used for in-band RF bypass network. The shunt 4.53-pF and 20  $\Omega$  bypass networks are used to ensure low-frequency stability. The passive components including the TFMS lines, discontinuities, and capacitors are simulated by a full-wave EM simulator (Sonnet software). The whole circuit of the amplifier is simulated with Agilent ADS. Fig. 3.8 shows the simulated small signal S-parameter for 1.2-V supply. It has a flatness simulated small signal gain around 16 dB at 1.2V bias over the frequency range of 57 to 66 GHz. Fig. 3.9 shows the simulated gain, output power and PAE versus input power from 57 to 66 GHz under 1.2-V supply. The simulated output 1-dB compression point ( $OP_{1dB}$ ) of the amplifier is more than 10 dBm from 57 to 66 GHz. The PAE at  $OP_{1dB}$  and the peak PAE are above 15 % and 25% from 57 to 66 GHz, respectively. The die photo is shown in Fig. 3.10.



Fig. 3.6. The simulated matching loss input stage matching network.



Fig. 3.7. The simulated matching loss of inter stage matching network.



Fig. 3.8. The simulated small signal S-parameter for 1.2-V supply.



Fig. 3.9. The simulated gain, output power and PAE versus input power from 57-66 GHz under 1.2-V supply.





Fig. 3.10. The chip photo of 60 GHz CMOS LNA with die size of 0.3 mm x 0.67 mm.

### 3.1.4 High Efficiency Power Amplifier Characteristic

Three PA chips were measured using on-wafer probing with a good repeatability. Fig. 3.11 plots the small signal S-parameters from 30 to 67 GHz and shows good fit between the simulated and measured data for 1.2-V supply.

Fig 3.12 plots the measured small signal S-parameters from 30 to 67 GHz at 1.2V and 1.0V drain bias with total static current of 51mA and 46mA, respectively. The measured small signal gain is 16.2±0.5 dB at 1.2V bias and 15.6±0.5 dB at 1.0V bias, respectively, over the frequency range of 57 to 66 GHz. The input and output return losses achieve the consistent results of less than -10 dB for both biases at 60 GHz. The measured Pout, power gain, and PAE versus Pin characteristics at 64.5 GHz are plotted at Fig. 3.13. The measured output 1-dB compression point (OP1dB) of the amplifier is 9.4 dBm, and Psat is 12.9 dBm under the 1.2-V supply and the 57-mA dynamic drain current at Psat. At 12.9-dBm saturated output power, there is a 39-mA dynamic current comes from the last satge, which is corresponding to the 42% drain efficiency. The PAE at OP1dB and the peak PAE are 13.6 % and 23.4%, respectively. If the supply is set to be 1.0 V, the



Fig. 3.11. Simulated and Measured small signal S-parameter for 1.2-V supply.



Fig 3.12. Measured small signal S-parameter for 1.2 and 1.0-V supply.



Fig. 3.13. The measured gain, output power and PAE versus input power at 64.5 GHz under 1.2 and 1.0-V supply.



Fig. 3.14. Measured PAE and  $P_{out}$  versus frequency for 1.2-V supply.

OP1dB is 7.7 dBm and Psat is 11.5 dBm. The PAE at OP1dB and the peak PAE are 12.4 % and 22.3%, respectively.

Fig. 3.14 shows the broadband characteristic of this PA. The measured 1-dB compression point and saturated output power with their PAE at 1.2-V bias are plotted from 57 to 66 GHz. The OP1dB of  $9.2\pm0.2$  dBm, and the PAE at OP1dB of 12% to 13.6% are obtained in the range of 57 to 66 GHz. The measured Psat is  $12.6\pm0.3$  dBm and the corresponding peak PAE is greater than 22% over the 60-GHz band. Since both the power performance and high efficiency are achieved over the full band, this PA demonstrates the capability for multiple channel operation in the worldwide unlicensed 60-GHz band.

Table 3-1 summarizes the reported state-of-the-art performances of the CMOS PAs. Although medium to high power amplifiers have been demonstrated in CMOS processes, we further improve the efficiency in this design. By applying direct-combining topology, this PA demonstrates the highest PAE 23.4% and 42% drain efficiency for 1.2 supply among these reported 60-GHz bulk CMOS PAs. The performance is comparable to the PA in SOI process [52] . For the integrated phased-array systems and the handset devices, this PA design is a good candidate due to its high efficiency performance and small size.

							(010101010) **	0101010 755					
TABLE 3-1 Performance Summary													
	90nm	65nm	65nm	65nm	40nm	65nm							
Technology	CMOS	CMOS	CMOS	CMOS	CMOS	CMOS	This	This					
	[46]	[47]	[48]	[49]	[50]	SOI[52]	Work	Work					
Topology	CS**	CS*	CS*	CS***	CS***	CAS	CS	CS					
Voltage (V)	1.2	1.0	1.0	1.2	1.2	1.8	1.2	1.0					
Peak PAE (%)	14.2	11.1	15.1	10	7	25	23.4	22.3					
P1dB (dBm)	18.2	15.7	15	19.6	17	12.7	9.3	7.7					
Psat (dBm)	19.9	17.9	18.6	23.2	22.6	14.5	12.9	11.5					
Gain (dB)	20.6	19.2	20.3	16.3	29	16	16.7	16.1					
Core size (mm <sup>2</sup> )	<1.665	0.83	0.11	2.04	2.16	0.573	0.11	0.11					

CS: Common-Source, CAS: Cascode, \* transformer power combiner, \*\* 4-way power combining, \*\*\* 32-way power combining.
## 3.2 A 0.6-V 60-GHz Low-Power LNA with Forward Body Bias Technique in 90 nm CMOS Process

#### 3.2.1 Introduction

To achieve high gain performance in MMW design, it usually requires considerable power to boost the transistor performance. The cascode configuration is widely used in LNA design [53]. However, the low power consumption and green-mode operation are increasing concerns for portable devices. The cascode configuration with a higher supply voltage is not suitable for low voltage application. As the gate length of the CMOS transistor continues to shrink, the supply voltage is scaled down accordingly [54]. The CMOS device reliability issue sets a limit to the supply voltage, which has been previously discussed in a 60-GHz amplifier design [45]. Unfortunately, the low supply voltage may degrade performances as well. Therefore, to reduce supply voltage and power consumption while maintaining good performance is a design challenge for 60-GHz amplifier.

In this section, we present a 60-GHz miniature three-stage common source LNA in 90-nm CMOS process. To further reduce supply voltage, our LNA using forward-body-biased technique that make this MMIC operate under 0.6-V and 4.8-mW dc power, in the meanwhile, achieves a peak gain of 16.5 dB at 58 GHz and 1-dB bandwidth from 54 to 61 GHz with a compact chip size. Since the power consumption and amplifier gain bandwidth product (GBP) are usually design trade-offs, it is observed that the proposed LNA outperforms all the reported CMOS amplifiers around 60 GHz with good small signal gain, low power consumption, and the lowest supply-voltage.

This section also discusses the eligibility of the general purpose (GP) and low power (LP) 90nm CMOS technologies, to meet the low power dissipation challenge using



Fig. 3.15. Comparison of maximum available gain of NMOS transistor of  $1.6 \mu m 10$  fingers under same dc power consumption with GP and LP process.

forward-body-biased technique without compromising the high frequency performance.

#### 3.2.2 Device Characteristic and MMIC Process

The 60-GHz LNA is fabricated using TSMC commercial standard bulk 90-nm 1P9M CMOS GP and LP processes. The biggest difference between GP and LP processes are the dc characteristic and frequency response of MOSFET. In addition, the threshold voltage in the GP process is lower than that in the LP process. Fig. 3.15 shows the comparison of maximum available gain of 16-μm NMOS transistor with GP and LP process under same dc power consumption. A RF NMOS transistor of 1.6 μm 10 fingers



Fig. 3.16. The schematic of 60 GHz CMOS three-stage common source LNA.

using GP process biased at 0.6 V has the maximum frequency of oscillation ( $f_{max}$ ) of 158 GHz and the maximum available gain (MAG) of 8.08 dB at 60 GHz. The same size transistor using LP process biased at 0.7 V has the  $f_{max}$  of 160 GHz and 6.99 dB MAG at 60 GHz. Apart from the characteristic of transistors, the two processes all provide single poly layer for the gates of the MOS and nine metal layers with ultra-thick top metal (metal 9) of 3.3 µm [55]. Passive elements including MiMcaps are available between metal 8 and metal 7. Two types of polysilicon resistors, with several  $\Omega/\Box$  and  $k\Omega/\Box$ , are provided by choosing the individual dose of ion-implantation separately from the gate electrode doping process.

#### 3.2.3 Circuit Design

To operate the LNA at reduced supply voltage and low power consumption condition while providing sufficient gain, a body forward bias technique is introduced in [56] at 5 GHz. Forward body bias technology is used to further reduce  $V_{th}$ . The threshold voltage of MOSFET is well known as



Fig. 3.17. The chip photo of 60 GHz CMOS LNA with die size of 0.65 mm x 0.54 mm.

$$V_{th} = V_{th0} + \gamma \left(\sqrt{2\varphi_f - V_{bs}} - \sqrt{2\varphi_f}\right)$$
(1)

where  $V_{th0}$  is the threshold voltage when  $V_{bs} = 0$ ,  $\gamma$  is the body-effect coefficient,  $\varphi_f$  is the bulk fermi potential,  $V_{bs}$  is the voltage between body and source. Thus, changing  $V_{bs}$ can modify  $V_{th}$ , which can achieve a dynamic threshold voltage MOSFET (DTMOS) [56]. The forward body bias technology has been presented in low frequency design, and this LNA shows the feasibility of this technique in MMW frequency application.

The 60-GHz LNA is a three-stage common source design. Fig. 3.16 shows the schematic of the amplifier. TFMS lines are used for the matching circuits and interconnections [55]. The matching networks consist of series and shunt TFMS lines. All lines are kept as short as possible to minimize loss and the circuit size. Because of the advantage of the ground plane shielding to isolate the conductive substrate, the

matching network can be meandered in a very compact area to reduce the circuit size without suffering the coupling effect. And taking into consideration the high-frequency radiation, the corner of meander TFMS lines is smoothly curved with arcs to prevent the abrupt change in the signal field direction. The transistors in each stage are 10 fingers with a total gate periphery of 16  $\mu$ m (each with 1.6- $\mu$ m unit finger length). The 0.6-pF capacitors are used for in-band RF bypass network. Several shunt RC bypass networks are used to ensure low frequency stability. The passive components including the TFMS lines discontinuities and capacitor were simulated by a full-wave EM simulator (Sonnet software). The whole circuit of the amplifier was simulated with Agilent ADS. It draws total of 8-mA dc current from the 0.6-V supply voltage with the GP devices. A 0.25-V forward body bias is used to make the transistors in strong inversion region. Fig. 3.17 illustrates the chip photograph of the fabricated 60-GHz CMOS LNA (GP and LP). The chip size is only 0.65 x 0.54 mm<sup>2</sup> including all testing pads and dummy metal.

#### 3.2.4 Experimental Results

The 60-GHz CMOS LNA chips were measured via on-wafer probing. Fig. 3.18 plots the simulated and measured S-parameters of the 90nm GP process from 50 to 67 GHz at 0.5 V and 0.6 V drain bias with total current of 5 mA and 8 mA, respectively. At a supply voltage of 0.5 V, the measured small signal gain has a peak gain of 13 dB at 58 GHz. Under 0.6-V supply, the measured small signal gain has a peak gain of 16.5 dB at 58 GHz with 1-dB bandwidth of 7 GHz from 54 to 61 GHz. The input and output return losses are better than 10 dB from 57 to 61 GHz. With regard to using 90-nm LP process, the simulated and measured S-parameters of the 90nm LP process is shown in Fig. 3.19. It shows that the measured small signal gain is 13 dB with 1-dB bandwidth from 54.5 to 61 GHz. According to the measured results, it can be observed that the frequency

10101:11 H: 1010



Fig. 3.18. The measured S-parameters of the 60 GHz CMOS LNA at 0.6-V supply voltage 4.8mW and 0.5-V supply voltage 2.5 mW.



Fig. 3.19. The measured S-parameters of the 60 GHz CMOS LNA at 0.7-V supply voltage 4.9mW.



Fig. 3.20. The measured  $P_{in}$  -  $P_{out}$  and  $P_{in}$  -Gain characteristics at 60 GHz at 0.7-V supply voltage and 4.9 mW.



Fig. 3.21. The measured noise figure at 0.7-V supply voltage and 4.9 mW.



Fig. 3.22. The ratio of GBP to DC consumption vs. Supply Voltage.

responses have approximately 3-GHz shift. The discrepancies between simulated and measured results are possibly due to the uncertainty of the device model. This disagreement in frequency shift may result in degradation in  $S_{21}$ . The simulated and measured  $P_{in}$  versus  $P_{out}$  characteristics at 60 GHz are plotted in Fig. 3.20. The measured output 1-dB compression point of the amplifier is -7 dBm, and the saturated output power is -1.7 dBm at 60 GHz. The measured noise figure at the same bias condition is shown in Fig. 3.21, and it exhibits a minimum of 6.3 dB at 64 GHz. All experimental results are measured including the pad parasitic.

To emphasize the flat gain characteristic for broadband application, we use the 1-dB bandwidth to calculate the gain-bandwidth product (GBP), and use the ratio GBP to power consumption to compare with the current publications. Fig. 3.22 shows that the lower supply voltage in our design can also achieve the high performance for broadband amplifier design. The experimental results show that the proposed MMW LNA is suitable for low power and low voltage applications in both 90 nm GP and LP process. Table 3-2 summarizes the recently reported performance of 60-GHz CMOS amplifiers. It can be observed that the superior gain performance of this design by the ratio of GBP to dc power, especially when considering this LNA only operates such a low supply voltage.

XXX

Ref.	Tech.	Freq. (1dB-BW)	Topology	Gain[dB]	NF[dB]	Vdd[V]	P <sub>D</sub> [mW]	GBP/ P <sub>D</sub> [GHz/mW]
This work	90-nmLP CMOS	54.5-61 GHz (6.5)	3-stage CS (TFMS)	13	6.3	0.7	4.9	26.47
	90-nmGP CMOS	54-61 GHz (7)	3-stage CS (TFMS)	16.5	N/A	0.6	4.8	65.14
[57]	130-nm CMOS	53-62 GHz (9)	3-stage CAS (CPW)	12	8.8	1.5	54	2.64
[58]	90-nm CMOS	57-59 GHz (2)	2-stage CAS (Lumped0	14.6	<5.5	1.5	24	2.4
[59]	90-nm CMOS	57-59 GHz (2)	3-stage CS (Lumped)	15	4.4	1.3	4	15.81
[60]	90-nm CMOS	61-63 GHz (2)	2-stage CS (CPW)	12.2	6	1	10.5	3.16

 TABLE 3-2

 PERFORMANCE COMPARISON OF CMOS 60-GHz BROADBAND LNAS

CS: Common-Source, CAS: Cascode, TFMS: Thin-Film microstrip line

# Chapter 4 1024 QAM 60-GHz IQ Transmitter in 65-nm CMOS Process

## 4.1 Introduction

The 60 GHz band with a massive amount of spectral space (5 GHz) has been allocated worldwide for dense wireless local communications. Much effort has been carried out to develop for high-speed multi-gigabit wireless systems for the assignment of the large bandwidth around 60 GHz. Currently, the draft of the IEEE 802.11ad 60-GHz standard defines the highest data rate up to 7 Gbs with a 64 quadrature amplitude modulation (QAM) [5]. The requirement for high-speed communications, such as a huge data file transmission and real-time video streaming, are extremely increasing. With the increased demand, the 60-GHz spectrum may no longer be able to accommodate all application needs. As a result, using the advanced modulation scheme, 1024 QAM, is a relatively cost-effective way to improve the capacity in high-speed application. Compared with 64-QAM and equivalent coding rates, 1024-QAM provides 1.67x (67%) efficiency gains. However, as the price paid for the high spectral efficiency, the 1024-QAM systems place more stringent requirements than the slow-data rate modulations. There are several kinds of factors such as IQ mismatch, LO phase noise, local oscillator spur, non-linearity and analog-to-digital converter (ADC) resolution.

In this chapter, the high image rejection 60-GHz direct-conversion transmitter is designed and implemented for 1024 QAM data transfer. The presented transmitter with 33-dB conversion gain and the 11-dBm saturated power improves the dynamic range for the measurement consideration. Through the characteristics of the high image rejection, the good LO signal suppression, the direct-conversion transmitter MMIC with the

**()**():社 注: 10



Fig. 4.1. Millimeter-wave high-order QAM modulation comparison.

10-dB back-off output power from 1-dB compression point demonstrates a 1024-QAM modulated signal (modulation capability) with a data rate of 500 Mb/s and the EVM results are within 1.7% at 65 GHz. Fig. 4.1 shows a comparison between our design and other works of MMW high-order QAM modulation [18], [19], [61], [62].

## 4.2 Circuit Design

To use the advanced modulation scheme, a 60-GHz linear high image rejection direct-conversion 60-GHz transmitter is designed in 65-nm CMOS process. The transmitter consists of a sub-harmonic modulator and four stage amplifier, as shown in



Fig. 4.2. The block diagram of the 60-GHz transmitter.

Fig. 4.2. The advantage of the subharmonically pumped mixer in MMW application has been described. The modulator design is similar to previous discussion in chapter 3. The size of the switching core is modified to 24  $\mu$ m, which provides higher conversion gain and output power at 60-GHz band. The matched built-in LO buffers with 28  $\mu$ m is selected for 30-GHz LO operation. In addition, the four-stage common-source configuration amplifier is used as the buffer and PA in the transmitter, as shown in Fig. 4.2. To produce a high efficiency and sufficient gain, two parallel combined transistors with the same size, 48  $\mu$ m, at the output stage were selected in this design [63]. The size ratio of these four stages is close to 1:1:2:4 to make sure that the signal is amplified in the linear region.

The full-wave EM simulation is carried out on Sonnet, and the circuit is simulated by Advanced Design System (ADS). The PVT corner simulations and the monte-carlo analysis with 10% variation on all transistors are used to show the effects of process



Fig. 4.3. (a) The image rejection ratio of the PVT corner simulations, and (b) The conversion gain of the PVT corner simulations of the 60-GHz transmitter.



(a)



(b)

Fig. 4.4. (a) The image rejection ratio of the monte-carlo simulations, and (b) The conversion gain of the monte-carlo simulations of the 60-GHz transmitter.

variation, as shown in Fig. 4.3 and Fig. 4.4, respectively. It is noted that the image rejection ratio is not under -40-dBc for slow-slow (SS) corner simulations.

## 4.3 1024 QAM 60-GHz Transmitter Characteristic

The chip photo of the 60-GHz IQ transmitter is shown in Fig. 4.5, the die sizes is 1.26 mm  $\times$  0.82 mm. The MMICs are tested via on-wafer probing with a good repeatability.

The output spectrum of the transmitter is observed by a spectrum analyzer (Agilent E4448A) with a 20-dB attenuator. Fig. 4.6 shows the measured output spectrum of the 60 GHz transmitter with RF frequency of 66 GHz, LO frequency of 38.5 GHz, and baseband frequency of 1.25 MHz, where the LSB is the desired signal and the USB is the image signal. The measured output power of the desired signal is -22.2 dBm with the optimal 0-dBm LO drive power and baseband input of -24 dBm. The output spectrum is including -32 dB loss from the probe, cable and attenuator. The MMIC shows the superior 49-dBc measured image rejection ratio and the 41-dBc 2LO power suppression, referring to the desired output power. Fig. 4.7 shows the measured and simulated conversion gain versus LO power of the 66-GHz.

Fig. 4.8 shows the measured results of two chips. Based on the measurement results, the transmitter exhibits good repeatability. The measured and simulated conversion gain and image rejection of the 60-GHz direct-conversion transmitter from 52 to 73 GHz is shown in Fig. 4.9. The measured conversion gain is  $33 \pm 0.5$  dB from 54 GHz to 70 GHz with 0-dBm LO drive power and total dc power consumption of 114 mW at 1.2 V supply. An image rejection of more than 40 dB is achieved over 63 to 69 GHz.

Fig. 4.10 shows the measured and simulated IF input power versus conversion gain and RF output power of 60-GHz transmitter at 60 GHz with a 0 dBm 30 GHz LO drive



Fig. 4.5. Die photo of 60-GHz transmitter.



Fig. 4.6. Modulated output spectrum of the 60-GHz transmitter with an 2LO frequency of 66 GHz and an IF frequency of 1.25 MHz.



100

Fig. 4.7 . Measured and simulated conversion gain versus LO power of the 66-GHz.

power fixed IF frequency of 1.25 MHz. The measured output 1-dB compression point is 8.3 dBm and the saturated power is 11 dBm.

Fig. 4.11 is the measured and simulated conversion gain versus the baseband frequency from 5 MHz to 9 GHz with an LO frequency of 30 GHz. The transmitter features a 1-dB flatness modulation bandwidth above 1.5 GHz. In addition, the transmitter is evaluated with 1- and 2-Gb/s data rates in a pseudorandom bit stream (PRBS) from an Agilent pattern generator (N4901B series BERT). The measured output spectrum of the BPSK at 60 GHz is plotted in Fig. 4.12.

To verify the high data rate digital modulation quality of the MMICs, the setup block diagram of the vector signal measurement system is shown in Fig. 4.13. The baseband IQ sources are generated using arbitrary waveform generator (Tektronix AWG7122C). Due to the 40 MHz bandwidth digitizer measurement limit of the SA, the Quinstar



Fig. 4.8. The measured conversion gain and image rejection of two 60-GHz transmitter chips.



Fig. 4.9. Measured and simulated conversion gain and image rejection of 60-GHz transmitter from 52 to 73 GHz.



Fig. 4.10. Measured and simulated IF input power versus conversion gain and RF output power of 60-GHz transmitter at 60 GHz.



Fig. 4.11. Measured and simulated IF bandwidth of 60-GHz transmitter.



(a)



Fig. 4.12. Measured output spectrum of the BPSK modulator at 60 GHz with (a) 1and (b) 2.-Gb/s data rates in PRBS.



Fig. 4.13. Block diagram of the vector signal measurement system for the 60-GHz transmitter.

sub-harmonic mixer module (QHS-V2) is used to down-convert the high speed modulated signal to IF signal. The mixer module can provide  $-10\pm 2$  dB conversion gain with 9.5-dBm optimum LO driven power from 51-70 GHz and over 5-GHz IF bandwidth. The IF signal is fed into an oscilloscope for the analysis in the high data rate digital modulation.

The LO source of the module and DUT are provided by the two signal generators (Agilent E8257C). Fig. 4.14 (a) shows that the instrument provides the 1.29% EVM with 600 Mb/s 64-QAM modulated signal. Through the DUT, the measured constellation and output spectrums diagram is shown in Fig. 4.14 (b). A 64-QAM modulation with a data rate of 600 Mb/s with the 1.57% EVM is measured with the 6-dB back-off output power from 1-dB compression point.

It is noted that we did not apply any IF gain/phase calibration while measuring image rejection ratio, we neglect that the mismatch of the quadrature IF signal source of the



(a)



(b)

Fig. 4.14. Measured constellation and output spectrums diagram of (a) instrument (1.29% EVM) (b) the 60-GHz transmitter (1.57% EVM) at 65 GHz with a 600 Mb/s 64-QAM modulation.







(b)

Fig. 4.15. Measured constellation and output spectrums diagram of (a) instrument (b) the 60-GHz transmitter at 65 GHz with a 500 Mb/s 1024-QAM modulation.

				(010101010) ***	<u></u> 酒
	DVB-C		DVB-C2		
	64	256	1024	4096	
In-home network					
Splitter (dB)	3		3		
Coaxial cable (dB)	4		4		
<u>Receiver</u>					
Thermal floor (dBμV)	4		4		
Required SNR for error- free transmission (dB)	26	32	29	35	
Implementation loss (dB)	11		11	12	
Minimum Signal Level @ system outlet (dBµV)	48	54	51	58	

#### Fig. 4.16. DVB-C2 signal level requirement

test instrument arbitrary waveform generator and the other setup mismatch including non-identical cables, connecters and probes. As the symbol rate of instrument get faster, it is more difficult to provide perfect quadrature IF signal source accurately. As mentioned previously, the 1024-QAM systems place more strict requirements than the 64-QAM modulations. In this work, the LO source was provided by high performance signal generator and the linearity requirement was reduced through power back-off. The characteristics of the high image rejection and the good LO signal suppression of our proposed transmitter is considered to minimize the IQ mismatch and other imperfections.

To further test the limits of the system, the transmitted 1024-QAM constellations measured by instrument and our MMIC are shown in Fig. 4.15. The instrument provides the 1.14% EVM with 500 Mb/s 1024-QAM modulated signal, as shown in Fig. 4.15 (a). The EVM is less than 64-QAM modulation with a data rate of 600 Mb/s, but the constellation is not stable. Fig. 4.15 (b) shows the measured spectrum and constellation of the 60-GHz transmitter with 65 GHz RF output signal with the 10-dB back-off output

power from 1-dB compression point. A 1024-QAM modulation with a data rate of 500 Mb/s with the 1.71% EVM is demonstrated. The highest symbol rate that our transmitter can be measured is limited by 50 MS/s. It may be affected by signal source accurately.

Consulting the specification of DVB-C2 for our reference, the required SNR of 1024QAM for error free transmission in DVB-C2 signal level is 29dB, as shown in Fig. 4.16. As for 4096 QAM modulation, the required SNR is 35 dB (1.78 %EVM). Consequently, the transmitter may be considered a good candidate for a cost-effective way to further improve the capacity in high-speed application at 60 GHz band. The performance of our work with previously published MMW high image rejection modulators are summarized in Table 4-1.

Reference	[18]	[19]	[29]	[61]	[62]	This Work	
Technology	0.18μm SiGe BiCMOS	0.15μm GaAs pHEMT	0.15µm GaAs pHEMT	0.13 μm CMOS	0.5μm E/D pHEMT	/D 65nm Γ CMOS	
RF Freqency (GHz)	70–100	51–65	57–65	20-40	30–70	60–71	
Conversion Gain (dB)	N/A	-14±2	18.3***	>-13	-7 ~ -13	33 ± 0.5	
Image Rejection Ratio (dBc)	< -40	< -40	-49.3 @ 61GHz	< -40 @ 27-30 GHz	< -33	< -36	
Modulation Scheme	256 QAM	64 QAM	N/A	64 QAM	64 QAM	1024 QAM	
Data Rate (Mb/s)	5 Ms/s	7.2 Gb/s	N/A	6 Mb/s	6 Mb/s	500 Mb/s	
EVM (%)	< 3	< 5	N/A	1.8	< 3	< 1.8	
LO to RF port Isolation (dB)	N/A	> 40*	N/A	> 40	N/A	> 50*	
LO power (dBm)	N/A	-1.5	4.5	10	N/A	0	
DC power (mW)	250	420**	278	0	0	114	
Chip size (mm2)	1.7×2	3.2×1.4	3.4×1.8	0.65×0.58	1×1	0.82×1.26	

 TABLE 4-1

 PERFORMANCES COMPARISONS OF THE REPORTED MMW HIGH IMAGE MODULATORS

\*2LO to RF port Isolation, \*\*with buffer amplifier and OPA, \*\*\*peak gain @ 62 GHz.

## Chapter 5 Conclusion

This dissertation presents the research on MMW transmitter and key components of the MMW Gigabit communication systems. For high speed wireless communications, an *E*-band high image rejection sub-harmonic IQ modulator and a direct-conversion 60-GHz transmitter for high-order QAM signal is designed and implemented on standard 65-nm CMOS technology.

To maintain high image rejection ratio of the IQ modulator over a wide bandwidth for high data rate application, a load insensitive analysis and an LO broadband  $45^{\circ}$  power splitter are proposed to achieve low amplitude and phase imbalanced structure. The design of the wideband low amplitude/phase imbalance  $45^{\circ}$  power splitter using an HPF/LPF structure to create  $45^{\circ}$  equal group delay with an additional delay line to compensate the amplitude imbalance is also described is this paper. In addition, the doubly balanced sub-harmonic Gilbert-cell mixer with the advantages of good LO leakage suppression has been selected in the mixer design. The IQ modulator demonstrates a measured flat conversion gain of 0 ± 1 dB from 55 to 85 GHz. The image rejection ratio is better than 40 dBc from 64 to 84 GHz.

For MMW high speed wireless communications, the proposed IQ modulator is integrated with the high efficiency PA and buffer amplifier to form a direct-conversion transmitter. By applying direct-combining topology, the two-stage PA achieves a flat Psat 12.6 $\pm$ 0.3 dBm and high PAE above 22% from 57 to 66 GHz. The PA demonstrates the highest PAE 23.4% among these reported 60-GHz bulk CMOS PAs. The 60-GHz direct-conversion transmitter with 0-dBm LO drive power provides conversion gain of 33  $\pm$ 0.5 dB from 54 to 70 GHz. The saturated power is 11 dBm with total dc power consumption of 114 mW through 1.2 V supply voltage. Via high image rejection and

good LO suppression of the modulator, a 1024-QAM modulated signal with a data rate of 500 Mb/s and 1.7% EVM is successfully demonstrated at 65GHz.

Besides, a low-voltage and low-power LNA for 60 GHz WPAN system applications using 90-nm CMOS technology is also presented. By employing three-stage common source configuration and forward-body-biased NMOS transistors, the fully integrated LNA can operate under the condition of a low supply voltage of 0.6 V, and 4.8 mW dc power consumption. The MMIC exhibits 16.5 dB power gain from 55-61 GHz and 6.5 dB average noise figure at operation frequency with good input and output matching. The experimental results show that the proposed MMW LNA is suitable for low power and low voltage applications.

## Reference

- WTB Broadband Divison Announces Renewal of Datbase Managers for Management of The 71-76 GHz, 81-86 GHz and 92-95 GHz Bands 2009, [Online] Available: https://apps.fcc.gov/edocs\_public/attachmatch/DA-09-2572A1.pdf
- [2] FCC International Spectrum White Paper The Mobile Broadband Spectrum Challenge: International Comparisons, 2013, [Online] Available: https://apps.fcc.gov/edocs\_public/attachmatch/DOC-318485A1.pdf
- [3] H. Asada, et.al, "A 60GHz 16 Gb/s 16QAM low-power direct-conversion transceiver using capacitive cross-coupling neutralization in 65 nm CMOS," in *A-SSCC Dig. Tech. Papers*, Nov. 2011, pp.373-376.
- [4] K. Okada, et.al, "A full 4-channel 6.3Gb/s 60GHz direct-conversion transceiver with low-power analog and digital baseband circuitry," in *ISSCC Dig. Tech. Papers*, pp. 218-220, Feb. 2012.
- [5] IEEE 802.11 Task Group AD, "PHY/MAC complete proposal specification", IEEE 802.11-10/0433r2, May 2010
- [6] C. J. Hansen, "WiGig: Multi-gigabit wireless communications in the 60 GHz band," *IEEE Wireless Communications*, pp. 6–7, December 2011.
- [7] "WirelessHD Specification Overview," 9, October 2007. [Online]. Available: http://www.wirelessHD.org
- [8] S. Emami, et al., "A 60GHz CMOS phased-array transceiver pair for multi-Gb/s wireless communications," in *ISSCC Dig. Tech. Papers*, Feb. 2011, pp.164-165.
- [9] V. Vidojkovic, et al., "A low-power 57-to-66GHz transceiver in 40nm LP CMOS with -17dB EVM at 7Gb/s," in *ISSCC Dig. Tech. Papers*, Feb. 2012, pp. 268-269.
- [10] S. Kawai, et.al, "A digitally-calibrated 20-Gb/s 60-GHz direct-conversion

transceiver in 65-nm CMOS," in Proc. RFIC Symp., Jun. 2013, pp. 137-140.

- [11] S.-J. Chen, Y.-H. Hsieh, IQ Calibration Techniques for CMOS Radio Transceivers. Springer, 2006.
- [12] B. Picinbono and P. Chevalier, "Widely linear estimation with complex data." *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, vol. 43, no. 8, pp. 2030-2033. 1995.
- [13] L. Anttila, M. Vlkama, and M Renfors. 2008. "Frequency-selective I/Q mismatch calibration of wideband direct-conversion transmitters." *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems II: Express Briefs*, vol. 55, no. 4, pp. 359-363, 2008.
- [14] L. Ding, Lei, Z. Ma, D. R. Morgan, M. Zierdt, and G. T. Zhou, "Compensation of frequency-dependent gain/phase imbalance in predistortion linearization systems." *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I: Regular Papers* vol. 55, pp. 390-397, 2008.
- [15] Lime Microsystems. 2012. LMS6002DFN Multi-band Multi-standard Transceiver – Programming and Calibration Guide.
- [16] Y.-H. Hsieh, W.-Y. Hu, S.-M. Lin, C.-L. Chen, W.-K. Li, S.-J. Chen, and D.J. Chen, "An auto-I/Q calibrated CMOS transceiver for 802.11g," *IEEE J Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 40, no. 11, pp. 2187-2192. Nov. 2005.
- [17] B. Kang, J. Yim, T. Kim, H. Shin, S. Ko, W. Ko, I. Ryu, S.-G. Yang, W. Choo, and B.-H. Park, "An Ultra-wideband transmitter with automatic self-calibration of sideband rejection up to 9 GHz in 65nm CMOS," *Int SoC Design Conf.*, 2010 pp. 332-335.
- [18] S. Shahramian, Y. Baeyens, and Y.-K. Chen, "A 70-100GHz direct-conversion transmitter and receiver phased array chipset in 0.18µm SiGe BiCMOS technology," in *Proc. RFIC Symp.*, Jun. 2012, pp. 123-126.

- [19] Z.-M. Tsai, H.-C. Liao, Y.-H. Hsiao, and H. Wang, "V-Band high data-rate I/Q modulator and demodulator with a power-locked loop LO source in 0.15- μm GaAs pHEMT technology," *IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech.*, vol. 61, no. 7, pp. 2670-2684, July 2013.
- [20] Y.-C. Tsai, J.-L. Kuo, J.-H. Tsai, K.-Y. Lin, and H. Wang, "A 50-70 GHz I/Q modulator with improved sideband suppression using HPF/LPF based quadrature power splitter," in *IEEE MTT-S Int. Microw. Symp. Dig.*, Jun. 2011, pp. 1-4.
- [21] http://www.erodocdb.dk/Docs/doc98/official/pdf/ECCRep173.PDF
- [22] A. Q. kiayani, "DSP based transmitter I/Q imbalance calibration implementation and performance measurements," M.Sc. Thesis, Tampere, University of Technology, Tampere, Finland, 2009.
- [23] R.A. Shafik, S. Rahman, and R. Islam, "On the extended relationships among EVM, BER and SNR as performance metrics," in *Proc. IEEE ICECE*, 2006, pp. 408-411.
- [24] M. Windisch and G. Fettweis, "On the impact of I/Q imbalance in multi-carrier systems for different channel scenarios," *IEEE Int. Circuits Syst. Symp.*, ISCAS 2007, pp. 33-36.
- [25] A. Georgiadis, "Gain, phase imbalance, and phase noise effects on error vector magnitude," *IEEE Trans. Veh. Technol.*, vol. 53, no. 2, pp. 443-449, Mar. 2004.
- [26] L. Yu and W. M. Snelgrove, "A novel adaptive mismatch cancellation system for quadrature IF radio receivers," *IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. II: Analog Digit. Signal Process.*, vol. 46, no. 6, pp. 789-801, Jun. 1999.
- [27] M. Valkama and M. Renfors, "Advanced DSP for I/Q imbalance compensation in a low-IF receiver," *IEEE Int. Conf. Commun.*, vol. 2, pp. 18-22, Jun. 2000.

- [28] L. Der and B. Razavi, "A 2-GHz CMOS image reject receiver with LMS calibration," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 38, no. 2, pp. 167-175, Feb. 2003.
- [29] J. Kim, W. Choi, Y. Park, and Y. Kwon, "60 GHz broadband image rejection receiver using varactor tuning," in *Proc. RFIC Symp.*, Jun. 2010, pp. 381–384.
- [30] R. Michaelsen, T. Johansen, and K. Tamborg, "Investigation of LO-leakage cancellation and DC-offset influence on flicker-noise in X-band mixers" in *Proc. Eur. Microw. Conf.*, Oct. 2012, pp. 99-102.
- [31] X. He and J. V. Sinderen, "A low-power, low-EVM, SAW-less WCDMA transmitter using direct quadrature voltage modulation," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 44, no.12, pp. 3448-3458, Dec. 2009.
- [32] L. Sheng, J. C. Jensen, and L. E. Larson, "A wide-bandwidth Si/SiGe HBT direct conversion sub-harmonic mixer/downconverter," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 35, no. 9, pp. 1329-1337, Sep. 2000.
- [33] J.-H. Tsai and T.-W. Huang, "35–65-GHz CMOS broadband modulator and demodulator with sub-harmonic pumping for MMW wireless gigabit applications," *IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech.*, vol. 55, no. 10, pp. 2075-2085, Oct. 2007.
- [34] J. Li, Z. Cheng, K. Fu, X. Zhou, and Y. Zhou, "Design and linearity analysis of current bleeding CMOS mixer for GPS application," in *IEEE Int. Commun. Technol. Conf*, Nov. 2008, pp. 339-342.
- [35] M. Shimozawa, K. Nakajima, H. Ueda, T. Tadokoro, and N. Suematsu, "An even harmonic image rejection mixer using an eight-phase polyphase filter," in *IEEE MTT-S Int. Microw. Symp. Dig.*, Jun. 2008, pp. 1485-1488.
- [36] P.-J. Peng, J.-C. Kao, and H. Wang, "A 57-66 GHz vector sum phase shifter with low phase/amplitude error using a Wilkinson power divider with LHTL/RHTL elements," in *IEEE CSIC Symp. Dig.*, 2011, pp. 1-4.

- [37] A. Lai, C. Caloz, and T. Itoh, "Composite right/left-handed transmission line metamaterials," *IEEE Microwave Magazine*, vol. 5, issue 3, pp. 34-50, Sep. 2004.
- [38] P.-H. Tsai, C.-C. Kuo, J.-L. Kuo, S. Aloui, and H. Wang, "A 30–65 GHz reduced-size modulator with low LO power using sub-harmonic pumping in 90-nm CMOS technology," in *Proc. RFIC Symp.*, Jun. 2012, pp. 491-494.
- [39] Y.-H. Lin, J.-L Kuo, and H. Wang, "A 60-GHz sub-harmonic IQ modulator and demodulator using drain-body feedback technique," in *Proc. Eur. Microw. Integr. Circuits Conf.*, Oct. 2012, pp. 491-494.
- [40] C.-W. Tsou, C.-C. Chen, and Y.-S. Lin, "24-GHz in-phase/quadrature direct-down converter with integrated quadrature couplers and baluns in standard 0.18 μm CMOS technology," *IET Microw. Antennas Propag.*, 2011, vol. 5, no. 6, pp. 718-727
- [41] S. Sarkar, P. Sen, S. Pinel, C. -H. Lee, and J. Laskar, "Si-based 60GHz 2X subharmonic mixer for multi-gigabit wireless personal area network application," in *IEEE MTT-S Int. Microw. Symp. Dig.*, Jun. 2006, pp. 1830-1833.
- [42] J.-H. Tsai, H.-Y. Yang, T.-W. Huang, and H. Wang, "A 30–100 GHz wideband sub-harmonic active mixer in 90 nm CMOS technology," *IEEE Microw. Wireless Compon. Lett.*, vol. 18, no. 8, pp. 554-556, Aug. 2008.
- [43] C. H. Doan, S. Emami, D. A. Sobel, A. M. Niknejad, and R. W. Brodersen, "Design Considerations for 60GHz Radios," *IEEE Comm. Mag.*, pp. 132-140, Dec. 2004.
- [44] S. Pinel, S. Sarkar, P. Sen, B. Perumana, D. Yeh, D. Dawn and J. Laskar, "A 90nm CMOS 60GHz radio," in *ISSCC Dig. Tech. Papers*, Feb. 2008, pp.130-131.

- [45] M. Tanomura, Y. Hamada, S. Kishimoto, M. Ito, N. Orihashi, K. Maruhashi and H. Shimawaki, "Tx and Rx front-ends for 60GHz band in 90nm standard bulk CMOS," in *ISSCC Dig. Tech. Papers*, Feb. 2008, pp. 558-559.
- [46] C.-Y. Law and A.-V. Pham, "A High-Gain 60GHz Power Amplifier with 20dBm Output Power in 90nm CMOS," in *ISSCC Dig. Tech. Papers*, Feb. 2010, pp. 426-427.
- [47] J.-W. Lai and A. V.-Garcia, "A 1V 17.9dBm 60GHz Power Amplifier in Standard 65nm CMOS," in *ISSCC Dig. Tech. Papers*, Feb. 2010, pp. 424-425.
- [48] J. Chen and A. M. Niknejad, " A compact 1V 18.6dBm 60GHz power amplifier in 65nm CMOS," in *ISSCC Dig. Tech. Papers*, Feb. 2011, pp. 424-425.
- [49] Y.-H. Hsiao, Z.-M Tsai, H.-C. Liao, J.-C. Kao, and H. Wang, "Millimeter-Wave CMOS Power Amplifiers With High Output Power and Wideband Performances," *IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech.*, vol. 61, no. 12, pp. 4520-4533, Dec. 2013.
- [50] F. Shirinfar, M. Nariman, T. Sowlati, M. Rofougaran, R. Rofougaran, and S. Pamarti, "A fully integrated 22.6 dBm mm-wave PA in 40 nm CMOS," in *Proc. RFIC Symp.*, Jun. 2013, pp. 1–4.
- [51] N. Guo, R. C. Qiu, S. S. Mo, and K. Takahashim, "60-GHz millimeter-wave radio: Principle, technology, and new results," *EURASIP J. Wireless Commun. Networking*, vol. 2007, no. 1, Jan. 2007.
- [52] A. Siligaris, Y. Hamada, C. Mounet, C. Raynaud, B. Martineau, N. Deparis, N. Rolland, M. Fukaishi, and P. Vincent, "A 60 GHz power amplifier with 14.5 dBm saturation power and 25% peak PAE in CMOS 65 nm SOI," in *Proc. ESSCIRC.*, Sept. 2009, pp. 168-171.
- [53] C.-M. Lo, C.-S. Lin, and H. Wang, "A miniature V-band 3-stage cascode LNA in 0.13 μm CMOS," in *ISSCC Dig. Tech. Paper*, Feb. 2006, pp. 1254-1263.

- [54] H.-H. Hsieh and L.-H. Lu, "A CMOS 5-GHz micro-power LNA," in Proc. RFIC Symp., 2005, pp. 31-34.
- [55] Y.-S. Jiang, Z.-M. Tsai, J.-H. Tsai, H.-T. Chen, and H. Wang, "A 86 to 108 GHz amplifier in 90 nm CMOS," *IEEE Microw. Wireless Compon. Lett.*, vol. 18, no. 2, pp. 124-126, Feb. 2008.
- [56] D. Wu, R. Huang, W. Wong, and Y. Wang, "A 0.4-V low noise amplifier using forward body bias technology for 5 GHz application," *IEEE Microw. Wireless Compon. Lett.*, vol. 17, no. 7, pp. 543-545, July 2007.
- [57] C. H. Doan et al., "Millimeter-wave CMOS design," IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits, vol. 40, no. 1, pp. 144-155, Jan. 2005.
- [58] T. Yao, M. Q. Gordon, K. K. W. Tang, K. H. K. Yau, M.-T. Yang, P. Schvan, and S. P. Voinigescu, "Algorithmic design of CMOS LNAs and PAs for 60-GHz radio," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 42, no. 5, May 2007.
- [59] E. Cohen, S. Ravid, and D. Ritter, "An ultra low power LNA with 15dB gain and 4.4dB NF in 90nm CMOS process for 60 GHz phase array radio," in *Proc. RFIC Symp.*, 2008, pp. 61-64.
- [60] B. Heydari, M. Bohsali, E. Adabi and A.M. Niknejad, "Low-power mm-wave components up to 104GHz in 90nm CMOS" in *ISSCC Dig. Tech. Papers*, pp. 200-201, Feb. 2007.
- [61] H.-Y. Chang, P.-S. Wu, T.-W. Huang, H. Wang, C.-L. Chang, and J. G. J. Chern, "Design and analysis of CMOS broad-band compact high-linearity modulators for gigabit microwave/millimeter-wave applications," *IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech.*, vol. 54, no. 1, pp. 20-30, Jan. 2006.
- [62] H.-Y. Chang, "Design of broadband highly linear IQ modulator," *IEEE Microw*.*Wireless Compon. Lett.*, vol. 18, no. 7, pp. 491-493, July 2008.
[63] W.-H. Lin, T.-W. Huang, and H. Wang, "A 57-66 GHz 12.9-dBm miniature power amplifier with 23.4% PAE in 65-nm CMOS," in *Proc. Eur. Microw. Conf.*, Oct. 2012, pp. 12-15.

## **Publications List**

## **Journal articles:**



[1] <u>Wei-Heng Lin</u>, Hong-Yuan Yang, Jeng-Han Tsai, Tian-Wei Huang, and Huei Wang,
"1024-QAM High Image Rejection *E*-Band Sub-Harmonic IQ-Modulator and Transmitter in 65nm CMOS Process," *IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech.*, vol. 61, no.
11, pp. 3974-3985, Nov. 2013.

[2] Hong-Yuan Yang, Jeng-Han Tsai, Chi-Hsueh Wang, Chin-Shen Lin, <u>Wei-Heng Lin</u>, Kun-You Lin, Tian-Wei Huang, and Huei Wang,, "Design and Analysis of a 0.8-77.5-GHz Ultra-Broadband Distributed Drain Mixer Using 0.13-μm CMOS Technology," *IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech.*, vol. 57, no. 3, pp. 562-572, Mar. 2009.

## **Conference & proceeding papers:**

[1] Po-Han Chiang, <u>Wei-Heng Lin</u>, Tzu-Yuan Huang, and Huei Wang, "A 53 to 84 GHz CMOS power amplifier with 10.8-dBm output power and 31 GHz 3-dB bandwidth," in *IEEE MTT-S Int. Microw. Symp. Dig.*, Jun. 2014, pp. 1-3.

[2] <u>Wei-Heng Lin</u>, Tain-Wei Huang, James Wang, and Huei Wang, "A 57-66 GHz
12.9-dBm miniature power amplifier with 23.4% PAE in 65-nm CMOS," in *Proc. Eur. Microw. Integr. Circuit Conf.*, Oct. 2012, pp. 12-15.

[3] <u>Wei-Heng Lin</u>, Yung-Nien Jen, Jeng-Han Tsai, Hsin-Chia Lu, and Tian-Wei Huang, "V-band Fully-Integrated CMOS LNA and DAT PA for 60 GHz WPAN Applications," in *Proc. Eur. Microw. Conf.*, Sept. 2010, pp. 284-287. [4] Wei-Heng Lin, Jeng-Han Tsai, Yung-Nien Jen, Tian-Wei Huang, and Huei Wang, "A

0.7-V 60-GHz Low-Power LNA with Forward Body Bias Technique in 90 nm CMOS Process," in *Proc. Eur. Microw. Conf.*, Sept. 2009, pp. 393-396.

[5] Jhe-Chia Kuo, <u>Wei-Heng Lin</u>, Che-Chun Kuo, Jeffery Ronald Tseng, Zuo-Min Tsai, and Huei Wang, "A **71-76 GHz chip set for wireless communication in 65-nm CMOS technology**," in *IEEE MTT-S Int. Microw. Symp. Dig.*, Jun. 2009, pp. 189-192.

[6] <u>Wei-Heng Lin</u>, Wei-Lun Chang, Jeng-Han Tsai, and Tian-Wei Huang, "A **30–60GHz CMOS sub-harmonic IQ de/modulator for high data-rate communication system applications**," in *IEEE Radio and Wireless Symp. Dig.*, Jan. 2009, pp. 462-465.

[7] Yu-Hang Wong, <u>Wei-Heng Lin</u>, Jeng-Han Tsai, and Tian-Wei Huang, "A
50-to-62GHz Wide-Locking-Range CMOS Injection-Locked Frequency Divider with Transformer Feedback, in *Proc. RFIC Symp.*, Jun. 2008, pp. 435-438.